
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Housing Committee 

Date Tuesday 5 June 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Sian Berry AM (Chair) 
Tom Copley AM (Deputy Chair) 
Andrew Boff AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 

Tony Devenish AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Friday 25 May 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact: Lisa Lam; Telephone: 020 7983 4067; 
Email lisa.lam@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Housing Committee 
Tuesday 5 June 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements 

for the Housing Committee, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 
Assembly on 10 May 2018, as follows: 
 

Sian Berry AM (Chair) 

Tom Copley AM (Deputy Chair) 

Andrew Boff AM 

Leonie Cooper AM 

Tony Devenish AM 

Nicky Gavron AM 

David Kurten AM 
 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following terms of reference for the 

Committee: 
 

1. To examine and report from time to time on –  

 matters of importance to Greater London; and  

 the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor and the Functional Bodies  

as they relate to housing matters in London.  

2.      To consider housing matters on request from another standing committee and report its 

opinion to that standing committee.  

3.      To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes when within its 

terms of reference.  

4.      To take into account in its deliberations the cross cutting themes of: the health of 

persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable development in the United 

Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of opportunity. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

5 
 

5 Standing Delegations  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following standing delegation: 

 
At its Annual Meeting on 3 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general 
authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on 
the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the 
lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 
consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 
consultation at a committee meeting. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 86) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Committee held on 27 February 2018 and 15 March 2018 to be signed by the Chair 

as a correct record. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 54 and pages 59 to 86 are attached for 

Members and officers only but are available from the following area of the Greater London 

Authority’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing  
 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 87 - 90) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings. 
 
 

8 Housing Delivery on the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park (Pages 91 - 92) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to the invited guests on 

housing delivery on the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park; and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk


 

6 
 

9 Housing Committee Work Programme (Pages 93 - 96) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 
 

The Committee is recommended to agree the work programme, as set out in the 

report. 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 3 July 2018 at 10.00am in the Chamber, 

City Hall. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:crutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 5 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Housing Committee 
Date: Tuesday 27 February 2018 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing 

 

 
Present: 
 
Sian Berry AM (Chair) 
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tom Copley AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
Tony Devenish AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Tuesday 27 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2018 be signed by the Chair as 

a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Strategic Issues for Social Housing in London (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on strategic issues for social housing to the following invited guests: 

 Andy Bates, JMB Manger, Leathermarket JMB; 

 Chyrel Brown, Director of Resident Service, Hyde Group; 

 Pat Hayes, Managing Director, Be First; and  

 Su Gomer, Assistant Director Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic 

Programmes, Lambeth Council. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 As Sue Foster OBE, Strategic Director, Neighbourhoods and Growth, London Borough of 

Lambeth, was unable to attend the Committee meeting, the Committee agreed to write to 

her to request the following information: 

 How resident involvement sits in your governance arrangements; 

 Whether the level and type of resident involvement changed over time and why; 

 Examples of how residents have influenced change in your organisation; 

 Whether Lambeth Council feels it is a good idea to require resident ballots to decide on 
regeneration schemes and what are the potential risks; 

 What is the value of appointing a Social Housing Commissioner to be the voice of social 
housing residents;  

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Tuesday 27 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

 What should be included in the Government social housing green paper; and  

 How resident engagement works when there is a mainly Council-managed estate with a 
block within that is instead managed by a separate company. 

 

5.4 Resolved:  

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted.  

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from discussion.  

 
 
6   Protecting London's Property Guardians (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

That the Committee’s report on property guardians, Protecting London’s Property 

Guardians, be noted. 

 
 
7   Housing Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme be noted. 

 

(b) That the schedule of provisional meetings for 2018/19 Assembly year, which 

are subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly, be 

noted. 

 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair, to agree the topic, terms of reference and scope for the Committee’s 

first meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Tuesday 27 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 15 March 2018 at 2.00pm 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting  

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.45pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 

London Assembly Housing Committee – 27 February 2018 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Strategic Issues for Social Housing in London 
 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Can I welcome our guests?  We have from this side Andy Bates who is the JMB 

Manager for Leathermarket JMB.  Can you tell us what JMB stands for? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It is Joint Management Board.  

We are a tenant management organisation (TMO). 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Great, thank you.  We have Chyrel Brown who is the Director of Resident Services at 

Hyde Group, which is a housing association.  We have Pat Hayes who is the Managing Director of Be First 

which, as I understand it, is Barking and Dagenham’s regeneration company. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First):  Regeneration development company, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We have Su Gomer who is from Lambeth County Council where she is 

the Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management and Strategic Programmes, and therefore knows 

quite a lot about resident involvement. 

 

What we are discussing are issues after the Grenfell Tower disaster.  This must have been - it was for everybody 

in London - for social housing providers a profound shock.  Certainly, in my own Council, in Camden, the 

Leader has literally said the words, “Grenfell changes everything”.  That is what we want to discuss today.  We 

will start with some practical issues.  I want to know a bit more from each of you what the main practical and 

strategic issues are that have emerged, including the financial impact of having to look at fire safety again? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  First of all, in Lambeth we have 122 high-rise blocks, blocks over 18 metres, 

27 of which are cladded.  Lambeth Council has an aged stock and that is the information we have on our stock 

database relating to our blocks.   

 

One of the main practical points for us was that as a Council, as with all housing providers and owners, we 

already had obligations under the Regulatory Reform Order for carrying out fire risk assessments (FRAs) in 

relation to all our blocks.  We have 2,800 FRAs that are called FRA1, the general FRA.  There are already a lot 

of ongoing actions that one has to take.   

 

The practical point for us post-Grenfell was in identifying those cladded blocks and which of them had blocks 

of an aluminium composite material (ACM) nature.  We took the decision to send samples of all of our  

27 blocks to the Building Research Establishment (BRE).  Part of that was to gain resident reassurance, so 

residents saw we were actually giving all of our data over to an independent testing station.  One of those 

came back as of an ACM nature.  On that block the cladding was put up 25 years ago.  What we, as a Council, 

did was first of all there was the issue about engaging with residents, especially those residents in that 

particular block and residents who were living in medium and high rise.  There was a lot of information that was 

going out and meetings with residents set up.  Quite naturally they had reassurance concerns.  They had seen 

the concerns that were coming out from the residents of Grenfell and naturally had concerns for themselves.  

Page 9



 

 

Reassurance for us was a prime issue.  We took the cladding, certainly the internal cladding, down the weekend 

it was found.  By August we had all of the cladding removed.  The issue for ourselves then, as with most 

providers, was what to replace it with. You only have to read the press to see the confusion there was about 

the different forms of cladding and insulation you should put up.  The other point was that we were well aware 

that whilst we, and others, were looking at replacing cladding the market was going up in terms of pricing.  

What we were able to do was to use our current procured contractors, whom we have under a framework, to 

replace that cladding, using the information that came down from Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government and avidly reading the testing results.  We are completing the replacement of that cladding by 

March [2018].  By doing that we were able to manage and minimise the costs.  The Council has not made a 

decision yet about charging leaseholders for that work.  We know what the legal advice would be but we need 

to relook at that and engage with our residents and our leaseholders.   

 

There are a lot of practical things for us.  The other practical point for us is with our other cladding that is not 

of ACM.  We have panel systems and systems that were of the type of Ronan Point construction.  We had 

already had previous surveys carried out and we had taken the gas out of that.  Again, it is of a reassurance 

nature for residents.   

 

One of the points for ourselves is that we have also engaged in [Dame] Judith Hackitt’s [Chair, EEF] 

Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: interim report.  Like most constructors we want to 

be clear about what the building regulations will say.  We know the interim review says they are not fit for 

purpose, and that it is not just the building regulations but is across the whole suite of health and safety 

regulation.  Whilst we are doing that the message that goes out to our residents is that the building regulations 

are not fit for purpose.  We have taken some more proactive stands.  We know what the guidance from the 

interim review of the building regulations says about looking at health and safety from the start to finish of a 

building, from when you are developing it to when you are maintaining it, making sure that any work that is 

done, whether construction or day-to-day repairs, are rechecking what the profile of that building is so you do 

not impact on fire safety in any works you are doing. 

 

In terms of the financial implications for us, this financial year we have spent an additional £5.2 million on fire 

safety works.  There will be the ongoing works you would also do and also the additional works.  As this was 

happening the Fire Brigade - who we have good relations with and we are really pleased we are engaging  

well - served Fire Enforcement Notices on the block that did have the cladding and another block that was 

undergoing construction works.  This is where we have other providers coming in, such as Cadent, from British 

Gas, which was looking what it was doing in terms of how it was routing materials in blocks.  The Fire Brigade 

was not happy with some of the work it was doing, although it met building regulations.   

 

The strategic need for ourselves is that we would like - I think everybody would like this - clarity on the 

building regulations when the final Building Regulations Review comes because we are maintaining not just the 

122 high rises but we also have 31,000 homes in Lambeth, roughly 9,000 of which are leaseholders.  It is clarity 

on the building regulations and constructions.  We have heightened our risk tolerance in relation to all 

construction works, which includes our major works construction.  We are just completing a £500 million 

programme of improvement works to Lambeth Council’s housing stock.  We have heightened the risk in terms 

of all contractors.  We have used things like the Fire Brigade toolkit to relook at that risk, making very clear to 

all of our contractors that it is not just getting the job done but is making sure you are safeguarding the 

integrity of the building.   

 

We have made an application to the Secretary of State for financial support in relation to the works we have 

carried out.  We are engaging with the Ministry’s finance team in relation to that.   

Page 10



 

 

Regarding reassurance for residents and resident engagement, we have also carried out not just the normal 

FRA you are required to do under what we call FRA1, which are communal, but more enhanced FRAs which are 

called FRA3/4s.  It is like destructive work, so you are not just looking at the communals but looking at the 

structure, the voids, and you are hacking in and looking at all sorts of elements of the structure itself. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Have you done those on all of the blocks you mentioned? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We have prioritised our 27 blocks with cladding.  We intend to publish those 

by the end of March [2018] so our residents can look at all of those.  In the meantime, with all of the residents 

in those 27 blocks we have been engaging with the relevant Tenant and Resident Associations (TRAs), one of 

them is a Tenant Management Organisation, so we can share what is coming out of those FRAs and the 

reassurance in the work we have done. 

 

We are currently carrying out a feasibility study which will consider the technical need for sprinklers with a 

priority on the medium to high rise cladded blocks and what we call ‘complex blocks’, according to the building 

regulations those would be sheltered accommodation and hostels.  We do have some in our sheltered 

accommodation and hostels but we are looking at the technical feasibility of that.  We should have that by the 

end of  

March [2018]. 

 

We are sharing a lot with residents and taking them through that especially, as I said, medium and high-rise 

residents.  There were liaisons, letters and things that went out generally to residents to say what was 

happening, which block was found with ACM and which were not.  The Council has an engagement structure 

with its residents which is-- 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We will have questions about that later on, if that is OK.  You are being very 

comprehensive, which is good.  You said you spent £5.2 million and you have asked the Government for 

reimbursement on that.  When did you ask the Government and when do you think you will get an answer? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  The primary letters went out to the Government towards the autumn of last 

year [2017].  The Ministry reminded us that there is a certain pro forma process you need to undertake.  We do 

have monthly meetings with London Councils and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government are there each month.  They were quite helpful in say about the pro formas we need to fill in.  We 

are waiting for the outcome of that.   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  I know Councils are going through their budget processes at the moment.  It leaves 

a lot of uncertainty when there is no answer back yet from the Government.  We will see how that goes. 

 

In terms of transparency, you said you have been doing enhanced FRAs.  Have you published any of your 

previous FRAs?  I know there was guidance from the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) that came 

through on that. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  No, what the Council has done is if any residents say, “I would like to see 

the FRA for my block” then we will send that on request.   

 

Page 11



 

 

The issue for us is if we publish the 2,800 FRAs straightaway how our FRA team could respond in giving the 

guidance and information that was needed.  In terms of prioritising our approach we started with publicising 

the more enhanced FRA3/4s and then we will move to look at whether we then publish the general 2,800 

FRA1s. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  The guidance from the ICO was quite clear and it also said, “Do not wait to be 

asked”.   

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  In terms of risk management we are publishing those that have the highest 

risk at the moment, which are in relation to our medium and high-rise blocks.  As I said, we are working with 

residents before those are published.  We want to do that first so we can see how we are handling it and the 

questions that are coming up before the Council then looks at whether we publish the 2,800 FRAs. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I know Lambeth has a house-building programme.  If you are not compensated, is the 

money you have to spend on this going to have a knock-on effect on your house-building programme. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  At the moment, we are resourcing this from our housing revenue account 

and capital borrowing.  As I mentioned, we have a substantial programme of upgrading our current stock.  That 

is a £500 million programme.  We have re-procured both our responsive contractors and our major works 

contractors and have made efficiency savings from that.  At the moment we are managing our additional spend 

through a combination of efficiency savings, from the re-procurement, and through our major works 

programme. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  When you talked about the building regulations not being up to scratch, given the building 

regulations are set nationally and are the responsibility of the Government would you therefore say it ought to 

be the Government that is compensating Councils, given that it is the Government that set these standards and 

allowed this cladding to be used in the first place? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We have to be careful; we are non-political officers.  We would not respond 

to the issue about the Government compensating or not compensating.  The Government has given us an 

avenue to claim for finance and that is what we are doing. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  OK, thank you.  Shall we move on to Pat Hayes from Be First?  Can you give us an 

overview - maybe not in such detail because we only have three hours for the whole meeting - about what you 

have been doing since the fire and since these issues have come up to look at your buildings? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I am not on the housing management 

side but our housing management operation has gone through a similar process as Su has gone through at 

some length, so I will not go back over that.  We are a borough with a small stock of high-rise buildings and 

quite a few of the ones we have are of brick-built construction and so on.  Once those have all been looked at 

in detail the issue that has really come up for us is around Bison construction buildings, a type similar to Ronan 

Point, where there is that risk of progressive collapse.  There the most significant issue is reviewing our Estate 

Regeneration Programme with a view to whether we should be bringing some, or all, of these blocks forward in 

the demolition programme.  For example, we have schemes where - for perfectly logical and sensible reasons - 

there are phases 1, 2, 3 and 4 and there are Bison blocks in the later phases.  As part of the process of 

reviewing the master plan for those Estate Regeneration Schemes we are looking at whether you could bring 

Page 12



 

 

forward those Bison blocks in the programme so they are dealt with in phase 2 for example, phase 1 already 

being in train.  That is a significant issue for us. 

 

The other significant issue is the greater awareness around the whole issue of fire safety and building safety.  

We look after the planning service for the Council.  The building regulations have been found wanting in this 

instance and the process in terms of the use of approved inspectors has also been found wanting.  As the 

Planning Authority, we will increasingly be asking difficult questions around fire safety and the building 

regulations of developers who are using approved inspectors.  One of the things we would like to do is 

promote the use of Council building control more on the basis that this is a service that is provided onsite, 

there are people who can go out to regularly visit and inspect buildings under construction.  Custom practice in 

the approved inspector market has been a lot of it is done by ‘desktop’ and often very remotely.  There is a real 

issue there so that is an issue we will push on in future. 

 

In terms of our new-build stock this reinforces the message you have to get the design and build quality right, 

the operation in use right and make sure what is being built - we have an extensive programme of new-build 

Council stock - is absolutely right in terms of design and robustness of that particular product.  That is 

something we will look at.  Clearly, fire safety, means of escape and everything else are up there. 

 

The other longer-term issue is looking at the heights of buildings and what works and does not work.  We are a 

relatively low-rise borough and viability in the private sector mitigates against going much above 10 or  

12 storeys because the value is not there.  However, that is an issue for us, as the planning authority and a 

development body, in terms of making sure that high-rise development is generally liveable in and will work in 

practise.  Fire safety and the means of evacuation is just a part of that discussion.  Use of materials is clearly 

quite important. 

 

There are potential knock-on issues as well from the regeneration point of view.  Clearly, cladding at the 

moment is deeply unpopular.  Brick was already popular but there are significant issues around the supply of 

brick and also with some of the potential issues around the supply of bricklayers, particularly if we are to leave 

the single market and the Customs Union etc.   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We might get on to that later.  You said you do not have that many high rises.  Does 

that mean you have not really been doing a review of fire safety?  There must have been calls from residents to 

do that. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  No, there has been a very thorough 

review by My Place, which is a housing company that we do not directly operate.  We operate the contractor 

side in terms of administration of some of the works.  Again, significant works have been done in terms of 

removal of cladding and improvement of fire protection where applicable.  We do not have the sort of 

enormous high-rise stock that Su [Gomer] has.  It is in the low teens in terms of the number of high-rise 

buildings that we have.  We are predominately a very low-rise borough with a lot of low-rise housing. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  In terms of releasing FRAs, how is that being managed by you? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  We do not manage that.  My Place, 

which is our housing company, manage that.  I am not in a position to comment, to be honest.  I know they are 

making them available but it is not our area.  We act as the client for works which they commission.  We do 

Estate Regeneration and Development. 

 

Page 13



 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  It seems there has not been any financial impact so far but there may be knock-on 

effects in the future? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  There was an initial additional cost that 

was met by the repair and refurbishment programmes that have moved forward.  In the long term that will 

knock back.  There are potentially some other longer-term costs in terms of construction of new properties 

potentially but, again, we will look to mitigate those.  There are some costs that will be met from the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA) and possibly some increases in long-term cost but probably containable. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  You are not looking to recover anything from the Government therefore? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I am not directly at this stage.  The 

Housing Service may well put something in.  However, it was not an enormous amount.  We moved some work 

forward but we were in a fairly good place anyway. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Shall we move on to Chyrel Brown from Hyde?  Hyde has an awful lot of homes. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We do. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  How many homes do you have in London? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  In London, just over 20,000 homes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Do you want to tell us how you dealt with these issues? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Grenfell changed everything for us.  We 

revisited our fire strategy to say, “Do we know what we know and is it still robust in this current time?”  From 

that we took a position that we need to understand how our buildings are performing and what we have done 

since that building was built that could have impacted on that building.  We then took the approach to identify 

our high rises.  We have just over 100.  We only have one building with a similar cladding to what happened at 

Grenfell.  From there we took the stance of, “Do we trust our buildings?”  We did ‘desktops’ and type 1 FRAs 

but on the high rises we moved up to type 4s.  The challenge for us, when you are doing type 4s, is how it - 

because you are basically going in and looking for every avenue and every hole - throws up a lot of subsequent 

works.  Residents also wanted to understand what we are doing in terms of those intrusive surveys in giving us 

access to their homes.  When you do those surveys, people want to know what you have found and what you 

are doing about it.   

 

From my side, in terms of housing management, we always took a zero-tolerance approach to communal bikes 

and equipment left in hallways.  When we have properties that are challenged by space - in terms of where 

people put their stuff; the prams, buggies and motor scooters - that becomes a management issue of how you 

educate residents in terms of, “This is what you need to do” or “This is where you need to store that 

equipment”.  At the same time, we worked with the Fire Brigade, who came around and helped us inspect 

some of our buildings, turning up with their engines and giving residents assurance that we are all working in 

partnership to make sure we are consistent with our message.   

 

We have also had residents request the FRAs we have done across our buildings.  We have not released the 

FRAs wholesale across our schemes.  The approach we are taking with FRAs is that the type 1s are a moment in 

time.  We are trying to find a way of explaining the FRAs because we have noticed that when we provide FRAs 

it comes back with a whole load of questions about, “What about my doors?  Am I safe?  What does this 

Page 14



 

 

mean?”  Putting it out without an understanding or explanation increases the enquiries we get.  We do 

appreciate the need to be visible and we do appreciate the need to be transparent.  However, it is a balance 

between providing the information and an explanation about what we are doing and the subsequent works.   

 

In terms of the challenges for us as an organisation, because of the volumes we are now doing in type 4s it is 

about the internal skills, drawing upon team members and moving them into a specialist team to do this work 

for us and then the subcontractors for the things we have to do around scaffolding, tendering of safety, 

putting that up for our site works and working with our development team.  The prices we are paying for 

consultants has slowly crept up in the competitive market as we are all using the same consultants or same 

people. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  It sounds like you have a programme of works. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We do. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Is it quite extensive?  You said there is the one block that has similar cladding.  What 

have you done with that so far and how much has it cost? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  For the one block with similar cladding we 

are working with the Fire Brigade regarding what we do about when we take down the cladding.  We have 

done the sample checks.  We have worked with the Fire Brigade.  We have a fire ordinance in place in terms of 

mitigation while the cladding is up.  We spent lots of money doing that in terms of having patrols night and 

day and updating our residents.  At the same time - just like my colleague, Su - we have to find a mechanism 

of what to replace it with.  While that was unknown residents were challenging us about, “When it is coming 

down?  How is our building going to look?  “What are you going to replace it with?”  That is the bit where we 

are stuck in terms of regulation, about what is appropriate in terms of, not just the cladding itself but, all the 

components that sit underneath it, especially as we have done window upgrades and all the other things that 

you do in a big refurbishment.  It is the whole system you have to look at.  That is why we have a programme 

looking at it from start to end. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  This is a question for all three of the people who have spoken so far really.   Have 

you changed any of the advice to residents in terms of what to do in the event of a fire?  Are you putting in 

place things like marshals?  I know that can be costly as well. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We have been challenged by some of 

residents around ‘staying put’, what that means for them and what happens if there is a fire.  For the one 

building with cladding we have wardens there 24/7.  Residents will challenge the cost of that in terms of who 

is going to bear that cost, and also why they need to be there.  Some residents see that as a hindrance and 

some residents really want them there.  We have also had the Fire Brigade give us advice about what they need 

to do and how we need to provide training for those marshals who are onsite as well. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  For ourselves the guidance clearly is the Fire Brigade’s guidance.  It is not 

the owner’s guidance.  The Fire Brigade will give you guidance on what to do if there is a change to the ‘stay 

put’ policy.  We have been following that and talking that through with residents.  One the cladding was 

removed and the Fire Brigade enforcement notice was completed we removed the waking watch, having liaised 

with our residents about that.  It is the same in another block where we had an enforcement notice.  

 

Page 15



 

 

We meet with the Fire Brigade every month as part of our corporate fire safety team, sharing information and 

guidance in terms of any changes to the ‘stay put’ policy or guidance. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Have you made any changes to any blocks as a result of their guidance? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  No, because the guidance from the Fire Brigade is ‘stay put’.  With the 

block where we discovered the cladding was in place, like my colleague, there was a set process that everybody 

had to follow in terms of waking watch, liaising with the Fire Brigade central team, taking guidance from the 

Fire Brigade and liaising with ourselves as the Council as a competent officer.  We were certainly making sure 

we took all of the guidance with the Fire Brigade as we went along.  We did not remove the waking watch until 

we liaised with the Fire Brigade.  In terms of the ‘stay put’ policy, that is still there.  There are some changes to 

the ‘stay put’ policy in some of our private sector stock but that is not the subject for this scrutiny. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I was trying to work out whether I should bring one of my questions in now or later.  It is on 

the Government’s consultation on this Approved Document B.  Can I bring that in now? 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We are not supposed to be looking at building regulations themselves. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is a very quick one because Inside Housing has revealed that the Government are inclined 

to include controversially approved ‘desktop studies’, which are far less reliable and effective than large-scale 

testing.  I was wondering whether each of the organisations here was going to be putting in a response to that 

consultation. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We worked with [Dame] Judith Hackitt [Chair, EEF] in terms of the input 

into the interim Building Regulations Review.  Our need is for clarification.  Approved Document B is confusing 

and there are many interpretations of Approved Document B.  What we have done is look at the guidance that 

is coming out in terms of what the materials are we can use.   

 

Regarding the issue in terms of ‘desktop studies’, with the enhanced FRA4s that we are carrying out some of 

the findings say, “Whilst construction was in accordance with building regulations you should reassure yourself 

by further testing of your structures”.  The Fire Brigade has given us some approved testing stations.  We are 

then looking at the feasibility of how we move to look at that large-scale testing.  As you would know from the 

information that is coming out from the guidance and the press, there is not an agreed approval as to what 

structural full-scale testing should be.  The suggestion for ourselves that we take some mock-ups of our full 

structures, stick them in the Dubai Desert and test them is perhaps not feasible, that is where one of the 

approved testing stations is.  We are liaising with other councils and with providers to look at how we do that 

approved testing.  There are issues with ‘desktop studies’.  We understand that because, as the media said, 

‘desktop studies’ can be interpreted in the way that somebody wants to interpret them, as can approved 

inspectors.  There is a nervousness about that.  We have fed into the Building Regulations Review our 

concerns, as Pat said, about approved inspectors and also testing itself.  One point about the issue of approved 

inspectors, some of our registered social landlord stock that had failed in terms of ACM had all been approved 

by approved inspectors and not the Council, which is an issue [of concern] for us.   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Devenish, you have a quick follow-up question? 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  We all know build costs are going up anyway, particularly in London.  The broad 

question is, are you having to basically gold-plate anything or enhance any risk management systems when 

Page 16



 

 

you are doing new build or refurbishing or maintenance after Grenfell?  Can you give us any feel in terms of 

the percentage build cost increase?  I know that is a very difficult question. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Possibly a question for the end of the session, Assembly Member Devenish, I am 

afraid. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  OK, apologies. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Gavron might be leading on that in a bit.  Can we stick to what 

people have been doing to reassess fire safety in existing buildings and to correct any defects?  That is what 

we are trying to ask about here.  Andy, you manage a smaller number of homes.  How have you dealt with 

this? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  I just want to give a quick bit of 

context and then raise five issues, if I may?  We are a TMO.  We manage 1,500 properties.  We have five tower 

blocks.  Fortunately, none of them are clad and also, fortunately, none of them are system built in the way that 

Pat was talking about.   

 

The first challenge is in the name.  We are a TMO and, of course, Kensington and Chelsea was a TMO.  The 

first thing is that Kensington and Chelsea was on a different scale to every other TMO; the normal size is  

200 properties.  In terms of perception, and talking to colleagues about this, for TMOs other than Kensington 

and Chelsea the view from tenants is, “We trusted you to manage our properties well the day before Grenfell 

Tower, and we trust you to manage our properties well the day after Grenfell Tower”.  Certainly, it has changed 

the external perception of TMO, which is a challenge for us. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I get some clarification?  My understanding is that Kensington and Chelsea isn’t the 

tenant management name is not what we think of as property management, it is an arm’s-length management 

organisation (ALMO).  

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  It was a TMO before it became an ALMO. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, it was a TMO for years and years and years.  It was only in the last six, or maybe 

even five, years that it took on responsibility for large improvement schemes, like project managing putting the 

cladding onto the external blocks.  Before that it was very large but it was a TMO. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Now it is gone but it was an ALMO. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Now it does not exist. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Shall we get Andy to explain this because he is our guest giving us the evidence. 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  I will see if I can help with this.  

This is a very partisan view from the tenant-management world.  We think it is an ALMO that was misbranded 

or misbranded itself as a TMO.  Certainly, it is a very different beast to every other TMO. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, for 20 years it was correctly branded and then after that it changed. 

 

Page 17



 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  That is not really the question anyway.  How have you managed with the fire safety 

issues that have arisen through your different structure? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  We are based in Southwark.  

Southwark had the Lakanal Fire a few years ago so fire safety is very much top of the Southwark agenda and 

we work very closely on this.  Southwark already had a very skilled fire safety team in place.  The issue for us 

on the ground is that that very skilled fire safety team then went into overdrive.  It has definitely had a huge 

impact on the workload of our repair team and also on housing officers as well.  To put this into context my 

Board had to make an emergency allocation of £50,000 - and we have a turnover of £2 million - just to deal 

with the kind of responsive repair issues that were thrown up as a consequence of the intensified fire safety 

checks that Southwark were doing. 

 

To run through issues very quickly.  The challenge on the ground is always major works, getting value for 

money from contractors and getting tight supervision from consultants.  We have talked to lots of right-to-buy 

leaseholders and talked to lots of housing managers.  This was very much an issue pre-Grenfell and it will 

certainly be one of the things that the inquiry looks at.   

 

The second thing is around cost.  As people before me have said, there is now intrusive surveys being done 

looking at the issues of compartmentalisation.  The ‘stay put’ policy is based on flats being compartmentalised 

and fire staying in the flat.  That happens in 99% of cases, which is really important to say.  People do not yet 

know the cost implications of those compartmentalisation tests.   

 

To give a quick run through on costs.  We, in Southwark, are offering every resident integrated electrical 

alarms, the average cost of that £618 per person.   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Fire alarms? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Fire alarms.  Fire resistant doors 

with door closers are £1,200.  We are starting to look at the cost of sprinklers.  Talking to colleagues, the costs 

are varying widely between £3,000 and £10,000 per property.  Southwark is working on an average cost of 

£6,500 to retrofit.  There is also an issue around mechanical ventilation system, making sure they do not suck 

smoke from one flat to another.  There the cost varies widely between £300 and £2,500.  Lots of mechanical 

ventilation systems contain asbestos, which makes it hideously expensive.  For a small organisation like us, that 

gives us a bill of £2.5 million when we eventually do all this work.   

 

Talking with residents is a complex issue.  Fortunately for us, as a TMO, our residents are used to us talking to 

them about complicated issues.  For organisations that are trying to do this from a standing start it must be 

enormously difficult.  I have listened to the discussion about releasing the FRAs.  The FRAs have to be released 

but they have to be released with information attached to them as well.   

 

The other issue is about who lives in tower blocks.  There are two big issues.  One is that there is no 

responsibility for leaseholders to tell us who is living there.  That was one of the issues at Grenfell, working out 

who was living there.  Secondly, the intensity of housing needs means we cannot not put people in tower 

blocks who would have extreme difficulty getting out if there was a fire.   

 

The last issue is around training and education.  Obviously there has been lots of soul searching amongst 

housing professionals, after both Lakanal [3 July 2009] and Grenfell [14 June 2017].  One of the things that 

we accept is that lots of us with experience and professional qualifications that we kind of learn stuff as a 

consequence of the Grenfell Inquiry.  We learn stuff as a consequence of the Grenfell Inquiry that we really did 

Page 18



 

 

not know and probably should have known.  Finally, post-Grenfell there are experts coming forward to say, 

“Yes, we knew this was an issue”.  The challenge is to get the information out to people like us, managing on 

the ground, before we learn it is an issue as a consequence of a tragedy. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  That was really helpful.  Obviously, you have residents on your Board, 

you are more tenant managed than most.  You said about FRAs and that sort of thing, and not wanting to 

release them, is that right?  You mentioned fire doors.  Even a non-intrusive FRA would identify whether or 

not the fire doors were adequate.  Would that not have been in the FRAs and would you not have had a more 

open programme of works to deal with that? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  We have taken a decision to 

release FRAs and they are up on our website.  However, that is mixed with a really intensive information 

exercise, talking to our representative groups, our tenant associations and also visiting people individually in 

our tower blocks.  Therefore, people are not just seeing the FRAs in isolation, they are seeing it in the context 

of other information. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Yes, that is more helpful.  Assembly Member Gavron? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  When this was the Planning and Housing Committee up to 2012 we did an inquiry into 

Lakanal.  We were not the only people who did an inquiry.  There were lots of publications on lessons to be 

learnt.  What did Southwark learn from Lakanal and what is it that you learnt more from Grenfell?  Southwark 

was really onto it, learning the lessons of that terrible fire.   

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  I need to be clear that I 

represent Leathermarket JMB, I do not represent Southwark.  If maybe I can talk about secondary lessons?  

They were very much around ensuring compartmentalisation, and secondly doing regular fire checks and also 

around learning about the problem of mechanical ventilation systems.  As I say, if you get somebody officially 

from Southwark they might give you a different explanation to that but that is our learning on the ground.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  And then from Grenfell? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It obviously depends on what 

comes out of the inquiry.  My particular take on it is that for something like Grenfell to happen a whole series 

of things need to go wrong at the same time.  It is about identifying those issues, managing those issues and 

making sure you do not get that coincidence.  

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Many of the things we are talking about were already discovered during the Lakanal 

investigation.  I find it very disturbing that those lessons really have not been taken up and learnt. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  That was really useful as an overview.  The reason I might seem slightly 

obsessed with FRAs is because although the basic FRAs do not look into things like compartmentalisation they 

do bring up things like fire doors and the fabric of communal areas.  Those things are quite simple to deal with.  

Yet, when you look at some of the FRAs that have been released, they are things that might say, “Deal with it 

within a year” and then three, four or five years later they are not dealt with.  That worries me a little bit.  The 

questions we are asking you are about whether it has brought urgency to reviewing and getting on with some 

of these things that maybe ought to have been done a few years ago.  I do not know if any of you want to 

comment on that?   

 

Page 19



 

 

At the same time, I have one final question that is about leaseholders.  Obviously, leaseholders have far more 

control of their flats and also pay towards works on the building as a whole.  They are a special case here in 

that they may need to be managed differently and also might be facing quite serious impacts with some of the 

work.  We might talk about the leaseholder issues and also the backlog of more basic work that needed to be 

done. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  In terms of leaseholders, we have heightened the information given to 

leaseholders and also our actions, liaising with our engagement groups - the Leasehold Council, as it was, and 

the Future Engagement Groups - and leaseholders throughout our estates.  We have ensured that on our 

housing management fire safety website there is specific guidance for leaseholders in terms of what we expect 

them to be doing and what their obligations are, including things about what the standards for their front 

entrance door should be.  Our position is that where we note that leaseholders have not changed their front 

entrance doors, or something, we will send letters to them requiring them to change their doors, noting the 

guidance that is out there.  The Council then, has not yet but would, move to enforcement actions if 

leaseholders are not responding.  That could mean either we make them change the doors or we do works in 

default.  Specifically, in terms of the priorities in relation to our medium and high-rise blocks, as I mentioned 

already, our risk-tolerance is heightened post-Grenfell.  We are becoming more of an enforcer of the 

leaseholders.   

 

There is often a difficulty, as was noted, when leaseholds are sold on and, in fact, leaseholders become the 

landlord.  There is a different relationship with leaseholders.  The other point, of course, is where we have 

carried out leasehold enfranchisement where the leaseholders own the property of the building and our 

tenants then become their accountability.  It is a different governance form.  The actions you would need to 

take would be private sector legislation.  In general, in relation to leaseholders there is more information going 

out there. 

 

A number of leaseholders have come back to us saying they were happy about the guidance they have in terms 

of what should be replaced.  When leaseholders apply to buy, under the right-to-buy package, there would be 

more information going out in terms of what the obligations would be, making sure that they have carried out 

more surveys themselves when they are looking to buy in relation to what they are taking on.  The position 

could be that a leaseholder might have bought when the fire door at that time complied with the relevant fire 

safety legislation.  Some years hence the fire safety legislation changes and it does not.  The Council has a 

major programme where it is going around changing its front entrance doors and is encouraging leaseholders 

to liaise with us on that. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I had experience with my previous 

authority, Ealing, where I was in charge of housing management.  Post-Lakanal we did an enormous amount of 

work in terms of making sure that both tenants and leaseholders complied with very clear guidance on 

cluttering corridors and storage.  We had a major campaign with leaseholders around their doors.  We did force 

people to replace doors.  There was a significant issue with leaseholders replacing possibly inelegant but 

effective Council doors with extremely flammable plastic doors.  We also had some tenants and leaseholders 

remove security gates that had been put for understandable reasons but would have prevented access by the 

Fire Brigade to parts of blocks, for example.   

 

A lot of lessons were learnt and were acted on post-Lakanal in terms of housing management, including tenant 

communication around some of these issues, “You cannot keep your buggy out there”, training and work with 

caretakers and other management staff in terms of, “Yes, it is nice to let people wedge the door open but you 

must not let them do it”.   

Page 20



 

 

 

The lessons that have come out post-Grenfell are far more technical for most authorities, assuming authorities 

or housing associations were on the ball in terms of management.  It is now much more about the fact there 

are interventions in buildings that are cumulative.  For example, historically asbestos may have been removed 

for entirely good reasons; then something else was removed, again for entirely good reasons; ducting was put 

in for cable television, again for entirely good reasons; and then further physical work carried out up to and 

including cladding.  They were all correct technically at the time according to the regulations but clearly those 

changes, when they are applied cumulatively, can be significant.  Some of the things that were signed off by 

the Fire Brigade - if I go back to the example in my previous role - as being adequate because there were other 

countermeasures in place that were proved to be potentially not acceptable.  That is the lesson for us now 

post-Grenfell.  Possibly the management lessons were learnt post-Lakanal.  It is now about looking at the 

physical structure, particularly for those of us working on housing regeneration and refurbishment, and the 

cumulative effect of different actions and how that may add up.  For those involved in planning and building 

control it is making sure there is greater scrutiny and checks around the functionality of products and design.   

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Just like my colleagues, we have very clear 

key performance indicators (KPIs) around fire safety, tracking actions and outstanding actions for FRAs, 

putting them in a programme and setting stringent timelines for when those actions are to be completed.  

Since Grenfell, it is revisiting those actions and heightening our tolerance given the fact our risk appetite has 

gone up considering what has happened.  From a programme of over a year for some of those actions we are 

no longer tolerating that, and we have heightened what we will do in a shorter timeframe.  In addition to that, 

as we do the type 4s we are getting on and doing those works as we identify anything that comes out of that.  

In terms of actions and closing them down that is measured and reported up to our executive management 

team on fire.   

 

With regard to what we do in terms of the wider discussion, the outcomes of Grenfell for us are about revisiting 

our strategy completely.  We need to make sure that the clarity of what we do is far more transparent in terms 

of residents and leaseholders understanding it.  For example, our website very clearly tells leaseholders about 

the importance of doors and gas safety checks.  We have a zero tolerance for Airbnb.  Residents do not seem 

to understand about the subsequent implications on the rest of the block.  We are far clearer in our message 

that, “These are the reasons why and this is action we are going to take”.   

 

We have not followed doors in terms of doing the doors ourselves.  We are telling residents the time will come 

when we will have to take that approach if it is not done.   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  That sounds very useful, thank you.   

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  There has been an absolutely 

sea change post Grenfell.  All the leaseholders we get understand fire safety, one because they want to be safe 

and two, because they want to have a property they can sell.  Lots of the issues we were grappling with before 

Grenfell have fallen away post-Grenfell. 

 

One issue that is worth mentioning is that if leaseholders do any structural changes to the property they should 

get permission from the landlord.  We know that has not always been the case.  We have certainly written to all 

leaseholders saying, “You should have asked our permission but talk to us now”.  It has been a useful exercise.  

A common thing that leaseholders have done is to knock the kitchen into the living room, and then there is a 

staircase going up from there to the bedrooms.  The fire officers have been around to say, “Look, for the sake 

of a couple of hundred pounds put a door at the top or the bottom of the staircase”.  It has been a really 

useful information-giving exercise.   

Page 21



 

 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You just talked about structural change.  One of the things that came out of Lakanal was 

the amount of minor drilling into the walls, breaking the fire wall.  It is little bits of DIY all over the place.  

Nobody has mentioned that.  I mention it because it should go up on the websites.  That was one of the big 

lessons learnt. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  That was a significant issue in the major 

fire that occurred in Ealing 20 years ago that spread at a similar speed to Grenfell, but fortunately it was a slab 

block rather than a tower block.  That was entirely caused by the fact there had been drilling for cable 

television and everything else by both tenants and leaseholders all the way through the fire breaks in the roof.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is right so that needs to be really registered.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You were talking about forcing leaseholders to change doors and also forcing them to 

keep the fire exit routes, from their flats, clear.  I know both of those are management issues and in some 

cases, it is undertaking the work to replace the doors for them.  A thorny issue that we have not touched on is 

whether or not they should be forced to fit sprinklers inside their own dwellings as part of an overall approach 

to improving a block.  Is that something that you started to enter into discussion on with leaseholders?  Is it 

something that, if you are undertaking a programme of putting sprinklers in the tenanted areas and in the 

common parts, you would then also do it in the leaseholder-owned dwellings as well in a building? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We are part of the London Councils meeting so we hear what is going on 

and we liaise with the Fire Brigade as well.  I also took part in the Department for Communities and Local 

Government weekly conversations back in the summer to hear what other people are doing.  We are carrying 

out, as I mentioned, a study into the feasibility of installing sprinklers in our medium, high-rise and complex 

blocks.  We will see the options that come out of that.  We do know that there are some landlords who put 

sprinklers just in communal areas, some who just put them in the internal flats and some do both.  There is one 

Council that did not want to pass on charges to leaseholders for sprinklers and therefore agreed with the Fire 

Brigade in its particular borough that they would miss out the leaseholders and that coverage of three-quarters 

of the block was better than not having coverage of any of the block.  We want to be clear about the technical 

feasibility, about what is the prime deterrent in terms of when sprinklers will be used and then we would look 

at the issue of charging.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I will come on to the issue of charging in a moment, which was the follow-up question I 

have.  As the Chair said, leaseholders are recharged and they are, but not for everything.  For me regarding the 

legal position of asking people to put sprinklers in, I am not clear whether that is an improvement or an 

absolutely essential upgrade and whether it is something you can recharge for or not.  I am not personally clear 

on that.  Fitting sprinklers in three-quarters of a building sounds a bit odd to me.  It will be good to hear from 

the rest of you what you think of that and also what you have been doing. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We do think it is odd.  In terms of looking at the feasibility the prime issue is 

going to, clearly, be safety.  We will be taking guidance from the Fire Brigade as part of this feasibility study as 

well.  Sometimes there is an issue, “We would not want sprinklers in a communal area” if you have a high rise 

that has one means of escape with residents going down the means of escape and being sprinkled on.  It may 

be the Fire Brigade would want to have a view on what we should do about that. 

Page 22



 

 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Is that the same for the rest of you, you are making the same sorts of decisions? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We are working through feasibility, looking 

at the buildings, looking at the volume of leaseholders, looking at whether it will be communal or individual 

and looking at the risk base in terms of the type of residents that live in the scheme.  We have a number of 

assumptions to work through before we get to a conclusion.  With so many different competing aspects it is 

difficult right now to nail down a position as an organisation. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  There is a significant policy issue for 

boroughs as leaseholders effectively fall into two classes; there are occupier leaseholders and leaseholders who 

may have a number of leasehold properties.  It is whether you want to treat them slightly differently because 

they are effectively a commercial undertaking, and offer a discount, support or free work for people who, 

according to circumstance, are resident leaseholders that you may not apply to people who are commercial 

leaseholders.  Again, that is a matter for individual authorities, but it is an issue to consider. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  You have the same position as well.  Obviously, you said you have enfranchised in 

certain cases as well.  

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Our borough has. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  There are the same sorts of arguments because they are effectively the freeholder. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Exactly, they are the client.  It is part of the criteria about what 

enfranchisement obligations are.  The point by Pat and yourself about what does the lease say whether the 

lessee is a resident, non-resident or a leaseholder, we already take account of that sort of thing in the 

repayment options that we offer to leaseholders in terms of what we offer to resident leaseholders and  

non-resident leaseholders.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  In terms of perhaps spreading the payments if they have to make a contribution? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Absolutely. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Or holding a charge on the property, 

for example, for work that is done.  Say you have an elderly individual living in a property that you wish to do 

some work to, you enable them to hold that as a charge against the property when it is sold by their inheritors 

when they die, for example. 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  I know lawyers are earning lots 

of money trying to answer your question about whether sprinklers would be an improvement or repair but I 

definitely agree with the thrust of your question.  If there are going to be sprinklers they have to be 

everywhere.  Alarms are an example of this.  The approach that Southwark has taken is, “Look, if you are going 

to put in alarms you need to put them in everywhere”.  Southwark has used general fund money to offer 

alarms to leaseholders at no cost rather than HRA money. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  OK, so it has not drawn on the HRA for that? 

Page 23



 

 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  No. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That is interesting.  Obviously, in the situation then of a block where you have 75% 

leaseholders and 25% tenants it makes it even more acute that something is done. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Absolutely.  The prime responsibility has to be fire safety, regardless of the 

governance, the vehicles or who lives in there. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Very quickly on that, of course, the prime responsibility is fire safety.  

That has always been the case, before Grenfell or after.  However, we are revisiting that.  One wonders who is 

liable in terms of retrofitting sprinklers.  Is it the leaseholder who owns the property or the people who sold it 

to them, not telling them they needed it? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It is the current leaseholder.  

The way that leasehold law works is that you take on all the obligations so it is definitely the current 

leaseholder. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Are there not grounds for that leaseholder to say, “When I bought this 

property I was not aware this was going to be a requirement”? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  No, because it is the nature of 

the contract.  Even if that person owed money you would still take on responsibility.  It is one of the 

peculiarities of the leasehold contract. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Ok, thank you. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  The significant leasehold issue is if you 

are an existing leaseholder wishing to sell now.  If you have bought in a tower block it will be significantly more 

difficult or, in a sense, very difficult. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  The speed of clearing this all up is paramount.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Pat, you are doing a lot of work on new build, yes? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Yes. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  First of all to backtrack, you have talked about possibly bringing forward some tower 

blocks for demolition rather than refurbishment, is that right? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  For ones that it has already been 

agreed will be demolished, whether - because of concerns around Bison construction and degassing - it is 

better to bring them forward in the programme.  For example, if we had a number of blocks that were in a later 

phase in a large estate scheme.  It is whether we can change the phasing, so it is less geographically logical but 

possibly more logical in building type to bring them forward in the programme. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Got it, that was just a clarification. 

 

Page 24



 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  There is a particular issue around the 

fact they have had to be degassed and there are further concerns arising out of Bison blocks from the case in 

Southwark, for example. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  System built, you mean? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Yes, Bison is a brand of system-built 

concrete slab. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Looking to the future, how is what we have all been learning going to affect the blocks 

you are going to build?  What are you looking for in future buildings in terms of quality, standards, design and 

all of this? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I would hope it would not affect what 

we are going to do.  Our aspiration in building large-volume housing for the public sector - as essentially a 

wholly owned public sector company - is to get the best possible design.  Because we do not have the pressure 

in terms of shareholder income or the house builder etc, etc, we are able to do things that possibly the private 

sector would not wish to do or be able to do.  Having said that, there are some really important issues, 

sprinklers being one.  Do we put sprinklers in everything?  Do we put sprinklers in over a certain height?  Are 

there certain materials that we do not use because we think that although you can use them at the moment 

there may be concerns longer term?  Our default position recently has been largely towards brick construction 

anyway, for aesthetic reasons as much as anything else and thermal efficiency etc.  There are issues there.   

 

One of the other issues is, again, around design, layout, the number of units off a core etc, as we play those 

through.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Let us go into the number around a core.  What would be better? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I do not think anything is necessarily 

better but it is thinking it through.  If you have a particular number of units around a core, what is the means 

of escape?  If you have more then you need more means of escape. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Are you looking at two means of escape? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Potentially, yes.  That may well be an 

issue.  On a Build-to-rent Scheme, where you are talking eight units off a core, do you have two means of 

escape? No.  That is one of the things we would test for the structural effect in terms of our design process.  

The Swedes have a model where they only do three units off a core; perhaps that is too small.   

 

The other issue for me is around the modular-built housing system of the current generation.  Clearly that has 

some attraction in terms of speed of delivery, although less so in cost at the moment. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  The more scale you have, the cheaper it will be. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Yes, but there are also some major 

issues.  If you are thinking about a high-rise block with a timber frame of modular construction there is 

potential for that to go wrong.  You need to really understand issues like fire proofing and spread of fire if - 

coming back to this point, which is one of the lessons from Grenfell - over time people do things to it as 

Page 25



 

 

technology and everything else evolves.  You may have a system that is really, really robust as designed and as 

built but how will it respond 20 years hence when people have done all sorts of different things to it. 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Absolutely. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Like what? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Drilled through it and knocked walls 

out. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That can happen in any building. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  It can happen in any building but there 

are particular issues around modular at the moment, because it is a technology that is in its infancy.  We do 

need to ask quite challenging questions about it at this stage.  I am an advocate of modular.  It does provide 

some real advantages.  However, we do have to be very careful that, having spent the last 30 years probably 

doing a lot of demolition and removal of system-built social housing schemes, we do not build another 

problem by rushing to modular now.  We need to ask challenging questions at this stage. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is interesting what you say about the timber frame.  When we did the investigation 

previously for Lakanal we looked at timber-framed high rises and the real issue was when it was being 

constructed in terms of the fire risk, not when it was there.  You make a point, again, that the effect DIY and 

refurbishment will have on these buildings needs looking at. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  As we mentioned, it is also things, in 

terms of wholly owned Council companies, what the policy is on Airbnb, for example.  There are some simple 

management issues if you are building stock, what are your new rules, if you are doing build-to-rent.  There 

are significant issues around some of that stuff.   

 

You are absolutely right in terms of modular and timber frame, it works really well.  There is a real issue during 

construction around fire risk.  However, we need to make sure that what goes in -- we do not create a problem 

for the future. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  The Planning Committee has done a report on modular, and we looked very carefully at 

cross laminated timber and have seen how very, very strong and robust it is in relation to fire.  You are talking 

about other forms of timber, are you? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  We have to make sure that in an 

environment where there is a rush for very rapid delivery that we get it right, that speed of delivery does not 

trump other issues, and that we are forward thinking in terms of thinking about what will happen to this over 

time, particularly if you end up with a mixed-tenure situation.  There was a time when most council blocks had 

a single landlord and it was very, very clear.  We are now in a position where the situation is not clear because 

there are leaseholders, leasehold landlords and there may well be freeholders in certain accommodation.  It is a 

very different management proposition. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That seems to me to be a lesson for all structures. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  We need to make sure what we build is 

capable of surviving in those conditions and is easy to manage and maintain in those conditions.    

Page 26



 

 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Would any of the other guests like to comment on that issue?  We have Su Gomer 

here from Lambeth.  We were expecting Sue Foster [OBE, Strategic Director Neighbourhoods and Growth, 

London Borough of Lambeth] as well who does more of the building and regeneration work but she has been 

unable to come at the last minute.  We may not be able to ask quite so many questions of Lambeth on that 

type of issue. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Who should do the testing of all these materials, Pat, and do the sign off? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  This is a matter for more Government 

legislation.  This review of building control and the building regulations is important but does not go far 

enough.  There probably needs to be much greater investment in terms of national testing of materials.  That 

will also help establish the Industry.  If you are referring to modular, one of the big issues is whether you can 

get a mortgage and insure it.  That is a very variable picture across all different types. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is not robust but it is getting better. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  It is getting better.  It needs a single 

well-resourced body to carry out testing and approval on all these materials.  This goes back to the point that 

Su made about where testing facilities are available at the moment. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I just say one other thing?  Building regulations fail dismally on thermal efficiency 

because they do not do the pressure door test.  I have never met a building inspector who does a pressure door 

test.  About 60 - 70% now of our buildings are leaky, brand new buildings.  That is also a fire hazard.  I would 

like your reaction on that.  

 

When the building inspectors come in - I do not know whether they are your own building inspectors or 

outsourced and privatised in your borough - will you be doing the overseeing? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  On our own schemes, clearly, we will 

use our own building control.  At the moment we have no power to force private developers to use Council 

building control.  Actually, the system is set up in a way that it encourages them, and also leads them, not to 

for all sorts of reasons.  At the moment the situation is yes, I would probably argue that this open market 

should be much more restricted and that certainly for taller and bigger buildings and bigger schemes you 

should have to use Council building control, or Council building control should have to sign off the work of 

approved inspectors at appropriate points for larger-scale schemes.  Obviously, for a loft extension and things 

like that there is probably a role for that market to operate in.  Certainly, on these larger-scale buildings what 

you see is that major house builders have a single contractor, often with a single approved inspector, for the 

whole country and they all do it from their desk in Cardiff in the main [office].  That is a concern.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Do you think there is seduction in this process? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Sorry? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is quite something to say but the whole thing goes the spectrum of seduction to 

corruption.  I am very worried by how easy it is to sign off something, to just do the ‘tick box’ of building 

inspectors. 

 

Page 27



 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Well, I think that it has just become the 

nature. It is interesting that in some other European countries planning is much more low key and building 

control, or its equivalent, is much more predominant.  We are in a position where in the UK a market was set 

up around building control and building regulations were not seen as being particularly important.  The 

Government did not regularly refresh them, there was not much investment in them and it was seen as being 

something that almost is a ‘tick-box’ exercise at the side.  Planning was important.  You get your planning 

consent but then the building controls process that followed after it could be done by anybody.   

 

One of the lessons of Grenfell is that, as a country and as an industry, we need to take building regulations, 

construction and design much more seriously.  Therefore, greater weight should be given to that area.  As a 

local authority if you miss your planning approvals you get told off, if you do not turn your planning appeals 

around at eight weeks and 16 weeks, etc, etc.  You do not really have to provide much of a building control 

service.  Successive governments were quite happy if you did not because you got more scrutiny from auditors 

in terms of, “Are you overcharging for your building control services and unfairly competing with the private 

inspectors?”  The whole status and view of that particular operation has been downgraded and potentially to 

unfortunate effect. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is interesting.   

 

Tom Copley AM: It is worrying. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is what we have seen as it has been introduced.  That remark is really, really helpful, 

thank you.  Will you on your new build, Pat, therefore be making sure there is a pressure door test? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I had not thought of that particular one 

but I am sure the relevant professionals have a view on that.  The issue with new build is also how you contain 

the amount of heat from electrical equipment within them, their thermal efficiency and also their ventilation.  

There is a real issue there.  If you look at a lot of combined heat and power schemes that are put in, they are 

never used at full efficiency because the buildings are so thermally efficient they are too warm most of the 

time and there probably are other fire safety issues around computers, information technology (IT) and all that 

other stuff which heats up flats and also generates a lot of heat at particular points. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  There are rules around the wrong kind of ventilation and so on, but enough. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you, Assembly Member Gavron. 

 

I am going to introduce the next session now because we have been talking quite specifically about lessons 

about fire safety so far and in quite technical terms and that is right because we wanted to know how you had 

reacted to those.  We are moving on to further questions now about the involvement of residents in, first of all, 

safety, then in governance and then in regeneration. 

 

I really want to make sure that we stick to the general case.  We are not just talking about the fire anymore; we 

are talking about how in general things are dealt with.  I just wanted to give some guidance on that because I 

can see that we would spend a lot of time talking about specifics if we are not careful. 

 

We have three sections of questions to come and we have just over an hour, and so it is not too bad.  Assembly 

Member Kurten, you are starting off with safety issues? 

 

Page 28



 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you.  Yes.  Good morning.  I will start with you, Chyrel, if I can, about resident 

involvement with health and safety and so on.  Have you made any changes to resident involvement in those 

issues - health and safety procedures - since the Grenfell fire happened? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Since Grenfell, I would say that we have 

heightened our resident communication and what we put out to residents following what happened in the fire 

in terms of giving them more visibility about our inspections: when we are going to be out there, what we do, 

and what tolerance we have in terms of things in communal areas and fire risk.  In terms of our engaged groups 

and our recognised TRAs, we always work with them about what we do and how we do it, and so they have 

always been involved in our procurement process, getting involved in what we do with our contractors.  

However, we are still adapting our strategy about the longer term in terms of fire safety, and then we will go 

out to those residents and share it.  We have residents on our Group Board and a structure that leads up to our 

Group Board, and so we all share that information.  Our website and the documentation that we are putting 

out proactively is our first tool at the moment that we are using. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Further than fire safety, there are other hazards that could occur in homes.  Are you 

just focusing on fire or are you taking the procedures to apply to the general codes? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We have used the opportunity in terms of 

documentation of fire to look at what we are saying about our homes.  For example, we have looked as we are 

going around.  We are talking to residents about keeping their homes warm.  We have been looking at damp.  

We have been looking at condensation.  We will be looking at ventilation.  All the things that are coming up as 

we are going around doing the inspections we are looking at as a whole. 

 

However, we are understanding how we put out information which is not confusing.  That is the bit that for us 

is around what we put out and in what sequence.  What residents are saying at the moment is they are 

overwhelmed and do not understand.  When we are saying about fire wardens or why we have to have it, it is 

about we tailor the message for each scheme without causing more confusion or questions.  For us, it is the 

quality of the information and the quality of the questions and how we answer those questions. 

 

We have been talking to residents about when we do upgrades, as my colleagues were talking about, in terms 

of decent homes, making those homes warm and the ventilation and keeping those properties warm as well as 

ventilated.  That has been a challenge for us in terms of residents saying, “You have made it too warm”, or, “It 

is too cold”, and they are opening the doors in the communal areas.  The works that we have done as 

improvements in terms of trying to enhance our buildings sometimes have subsequent management issues 

which we have to re-educate our residents about.  Sometimes we do good but cause an adverse effect, and we 

have to re-educate our residents about the consequences of those things. 

 

David Kurten AM:  It sounds good and it is good that you have someone on your Board as well.  How would 

you make sure that any issues or concerns do not slip through the net?  Say someone had a specific issue - you 

have mentioned quite a few there - and they are not on the Board, just an ordinary resident.  How would they 

go about informing you and what will you do to make sure that their issue or concern is dealt with? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Our approach is that we have a procedure 

set out in terms of how we respond to enquiries that come from residents and we track all our cases.  If 

somebody makes a complaint it goes through a complaints process, which we also track.  What we are trying to 

do is arm our frontline teams with general information around health and safety that they can respond to 

which does not escalate into a complaint. 

 

Page 29



 

 

We do realise that we have had increased volumes of enquiries around health and safety and how we as an 

organisation respond to that.  I am not saying we are perfect as an organisation in terms of things being 

missed, but, because we have a separate team who are looking at fire safety, anything which is complicated or 

anything that needs further explanation or understanding we pass to that team.  They will give us a general 

script which we will produce in terms of letters and proactively send that to residents. 

 

If we look at what our data says, say this last week we had had lots of enquiries around what does this type 1 

survey mean, instead of waiting for those enquiries to come out we try to put that on our website to 

proactively stop the volume of enquiries coming back about what is on that type form.  At the same time, we 

have had this approach since Grenfell about ‘right first time’ about answering enquiries around safety because 

we know that is something which is really pressurised for our residents at the moment. 

 

We are also working with the Fire Brigade about what we put out as well.  When we are doing our inspections 

with them, we are telling them in advance, “We are going out with the Fire Brigade.  This is why.  Do not be 

concerned”, and being quite clear about that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thanks.  Yes, Andy, did you want to say something about what happens in 

Leathermarket? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes.  This has been very tough 

on the ground.  People have talked about making sure that fire pathways are clear, people are not leaving 

combustible things around and are taking down gates.  There have been practices that have settled in over the 

years that certainly we are having to challenge with considerably more gusto, which means that we have really 

had to up our communication strategy.  Residents want to be talking to us about fire safety, particularly people 

who live in the tower blocks.  Also, we need to be explaining to people why it is absolutely essential.  We have 

just tried to bombard people with people talking to them on the doorstep, letters going out, using our existing 

structures, and also having reference points on the website. 

 

In terms of capturing formal interaction, Southwark has set up a dedicated website on fire safety and so, if 

anybody asks us about fire safety, we would also route it through the Southwark site.  It is not just our  

on-the-ground housing management view; it is also cross-checked by an expert in Southwark’s fire safety 

team. It is very much about what you were saying about making sure that no communication gets missed. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  It is wonderful that you have set the website up and everything, but there might be 

a lot of people, especially older people, who do not use websites and who do not go online.  How do they get 

the same access to your frontline teams and the Bboard and the inspections and everything as people who can 

use the web easily? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We publicise our estate inspections when we 

are going to be out, and we invite residents to come and support the officers when they are out doing the 

estate inspections.  Also, if they identify things that need to be removed, they write letters or put things on a 

noticeboard for all the block around that information, explaining why and why we are potentially serving notice 

on those items.  Also, we have learned that we need to really constantly keep those noticeboards refreshed in 

terms of what we are saying and why we are saying it. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Are residents involved in your inspection processes if they go on?  Andy, do you have 

residents involved in your inspection teams, oversight teams or anything like that? 

 

Page 30



 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  In terms of the current fire 

safety inspections, they are done by dedicated Southwark staff.  In terms of general inspections, yes, we have 

formal inspections and we publicise them and we encourage resident reps to come along to that. 

 

I really need to emphasise that most social housing tenants would be able to describe to you any big changes 

in the way that fire safety is being treated on the ground.  There are very few housing organisations that have 

not changed the intensity of the way that they are communicating with residents at the moment. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We have a similar approach as has been described, including what is called a 

‘Wednesday walkabout’.  An estate is picked every Wednesday and residents are involved in walking about and 

looking at those estates.  They include housing management and asset management contractors and so we can 

get to the front of that. 

 

We do use task-and-finish groups, which are resident-led.  We have recently used those task-and-finish groups 

related to major works and leasehold services where residents are the chairs and are scrutinising us.  From that 

have followed a lot of suggestions and ongoing improvements. 

 

We have a revised engagement process that is taking place in Lambeth which needs to bed down.  Part of that 

includes task-and-finish groups.  The suggestion is that we liaise with residents about setting up a task-and-

finish group on health and safety so that we can understand what reassurance looks like to residents.  We are 

talking a lot about what we think would reassure residents.  We have had a lot of understanding as we have 

been going along, especially with the heightened process after Grenfell, but there is the issue about doing this 

and this and this and liaising further with residents in an offside task-and-finish groups to say, “What would 

reassurance look like to you?”  That would be one of our next steps in relation to the other points that we do, 

which are similar to my colleagues. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes, it was just to find out whether you had done any unannounced inspections.  

Obviously, if inspections are prearranged and everyone knows they are going to happen, sometimes people 

change things around a bit.  I wondered if that is something that you include in your set of inspections that are 

carried out. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We do.  We have also taken the approach in 

terms of our teams, that if they are out they are the eyes and the ears of the organisation.  Therefore, yes, we 

have property managers going out and inspecting but, if you are another member of staff or a surveyor or 

going out on a lettings visit and see something, it has to be reported because you were the last person there.  

We have taken a firmer stance in terms of training, expectations, reporting and escalating, too. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That brings me on to my second question, which is about training for residents who are 

involved in these processes and, also, bringing people together from different blocks and different residents’ 

associations so that they can share learning.  How much training are people being given before they are going 

to do inspections?  If you have a network of fire safety champions - in the way that people have had green 

champions who have worked through issues around fuel quality and suchlike and have taken that back to their 

different residents’ associations - is that network of fire safety champions being trained and developed, is that 

something you have been doing? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Like my colleagues, we have done a  

Page 31



 

 

task-and-finish group in terms of estate inspections and, from that, there are some recommendations for what 

the residents wanted around further insight in terms of looking for fire safety.  That is on our agenda to upskill 

our residents even further in terms of the work that we do with them, but currently they are not trained to that 

level. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Personally, I think that you should be getting that extra involvement, getting that level 

of knowledge and upskilling the residents.  The natural thing that we all do is slip back into, “We would like to 

have that gate and those pot plants because it makes the little bit outside our flat look nicer”.  Then the 

neighbours, who have been trained and know that it should not be there because it is also a fire escape route 

that is now blocked, can deal with it on an ongoing basis, rather than waiting for the next inspection to 

happen.  It can be valuable from that point of view.  Thank you. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  I had one follow-up question to Su.  You mentioned - in fact, both Su and Chyrel 

have mentioned - task-and-finish groups, and you said the residents chair those.  Is this a strategic issue across 

Lambeth like health and safety, or is this on particular estates? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  So yes, when extreme concerns are raised. We had a massive investment 

programme and there were concerns about major works and leasehold billing.  A task-and-finish group was set 

up to go through that with residents having time aside with officers to scrutinise the officers so that they could 

work through that in a less formal situation.  The suggestion is that as part of our engagement structure, which 

includes task-and-finish groups, we follow that up with health and safety as a prime objective.  That would 

look at the current position, what the heightened risk tolerance is, what we are doing now, the residents’ 

involvement with it, the level of skilling that they would wish and, again, communications, which includes 

communications through all vehicles. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Sorry, to interrupt, but that would be a Lambeth-wide issue. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  How do you choose which residents take part in that, then? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  There is an engagement process.  The engagement process through the 

various forums would be inviting resident representatives to take part in the task-and-finish group. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  It would be a subset of TRA chair type of people? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  You would invite residents who are in TRAs and who are not within 

TRAs, but in the form of engagement structure so that we could understand the mix -- 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Sorry, can you explain?  What do you mean by “engagement structure” if they are 

not in the TRAs? Is there a separate -- 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  As with most organisations, we would always seek to make sure that all of 

our blocks and housing are covered by TRAs.  Some are not, especially where we have a lot of street properties 

Page 32



 

 

that are not estate-based.  We would want to make sure that we are not missing out on any.  We are looking at 

engaging both groups throughout recognised TRAs and perhaps those who are not in TRAs. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes, we have TRAs and they take feedback 

from their local community about things that they are hearing or seeing in terms of potential areas of concern.  

Also, we will share our KPIs with them.  They would then, for the six months or year ahead, identify areas that 

they would like to focus on and come back and say, “We want to independently look at this”.  We facilitate 

that with our internal audit team, which will support them with training and understanding how to look at that 

service.  Then they will produce a report of things that they see work well, things that they would like 

improved or things around communication.  If we believe that we are telling the message well but it does not 

come across as resident-friendly, they help us with the tone of the letters.  With the fire works that we will be 

doing, where we need access, there were quality checks on those letters around how it comes across and 

whether we are getting our point across in a way which is the most effective.  Their work programme is 

generated by data they capture and they come to us and say, “This is what we want to do for the next six 

months”. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  It is a bit like a scrutiny committee, like us, essentially? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Andy, how does that work with you?  Your tenants are more engaged in 

the management generally.  Do you have work groups or task-and-finish groups on particular issues that you 

put together? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Accepting the debate about 

whether Kensington & Chelsea is now more a TMO, what it has really done is to bring home the issue of legal 

liability to both our resident directors and also the management team as well.  This has been a big and 

recurrent issue of debate in our Board meetings.  Our Resident Directors are very well informed about the 

whole discussion.   

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Sorry, what is a ‘Resident Director’? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  The way that the JMB is 

organised is that we have five tenants’ associations and people from each of the tenants’ associations elect two 

directors.  It is the Board of Directors that makes the strategic decisions about the way that we operate. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Five groups of residents and each elects two and they are the Board, 

yes? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes, they are the Board.  This is 

a huge issue for us and it means that we have tenant representatives advocating the importance of fire safety. 

 

There is quite a good case study on one of our blocks where we got into an enormously contentious argument 

about how many pot plants people could have.  The approach that we took was that we involved the 

Southwark Fire Officer and we defined our managed approach about what is acceptable and what is not 

acceptable.  It was the tenants who had been involved in the process who went out and advocated the 

agreement that we had made.  Our enforcement on that block has been stronger than on any of our other 

blocks because residents were so engaged in it.  Having succeeded in one place it is an approach that we are 

looking to roll out on our other blocks as well. 

Page 33



 

 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We are now on to the general governance and things, yes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Your Board of Directors is the liable body, the one that is responsible? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It is an interesting debate about 

whether it is Southwark Council or me or our directors.  Hopefully, it is one that we are never going to have to 

have in real life.  The approach that we have taken is that we work very closely with Southwark Council.  

However, yes, there is potential legal liability there, which means that we take the issue very seriously. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That Board is advised by yourself and other officers as well? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  And then a legally constituted -- 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  We have covered the basis of my first question, which was what 

governance models you have in place with regard to tenant involvement.  Perhaps, Ms Brown, you have 

already told us a little, but we need it in context. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We have a tiered system where we have local 

community groups that feed into formal structures.  Those formal structures feed into a group that looks at 

inspections and so we call that our ‘Hydewide’ Residents Voice.  They go around and do inspections over the 

year, look at our services and look at improvements. 

 

We have a Hyde Residents Board, which takes the feedback from all the subcommittees that sit underneath 

them and they have a structure -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That inspections group being one of those subcommittees? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes; inspections.  They also look at 

performance.  They look at procurement.  They work on training.  They participate in officer interviews for 

frontline managers and staff.  They are very much a part of our organisation in terms of being about shaping 

our services. 

 

We have the Hyde 5,000, where we have residents who communicate just online with us, giving us feedback 

about how we communicate, looking at letters that we send out and giving us a residents’ assurance tick on 

some of the things that we send out to our residents. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I just ask, as you alluded to earlier, these are effectively scrutiny 

bodies.  They are consultative bodies -- 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  They are consultative bodies.  We go out 

and we get their feedback about our services.  We also share our performance with them and they also provide 

us with feedback about things they are hearing from their local community, or things they are hearing that are 

not going so well and suggestions about what they would like to put forward.  If we are changing our service or 

Page 34



 

 

looking at our offer, we will go out to them and share the structure, share the thinking and share the direction.  

They become advocates, because they will challenge us about what we are doing. 

 

Recently, we had a focus on property managers and the role profile of that was shared with those involved 

residents.  They were very much, “We believe the focus should be this.  We want them to be visible.  We want 

them out there.  We want to understand what they will be saying to residents.”  They were all part of the 

interview and selection process for that cohort of teams. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  The Hyde Residents Board is a body of how many? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  There are ten people who sit on that. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  How are they elected? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  They are elected by the residents 

themselves.  As they come up with formal structures, they go through a voting system where they will vote for 

the Chair, they will vote for the Vice-Chair and -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  All residents are entitled to vote in that? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  All residents in the involved structure are 

entitled to vote.  People put themselves forward and, once they are in our engaged structure, then they can 

vote. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  What is the engagement structure, then, sorry? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We have informal groups, which we work 

with.  Then we have formal groups, which we support in terms of further training and development.  We take 

general feedback from our all informal groups, but once they come into the Hyde structure we then provide 

them with additional training and additional governance that we will support them with. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Let us move on and get others involved, I will come back if I can.  

Mr Hayes, with regard to Be First and Barking, what kind of involvement do tenants have in the governance of 

your properties? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Our body is wholly owned by the 

Council.  We are a development company for the Council, effectively.  Tenant involvement is on, for us, the 

client side, which is the housing department as the Council, which has a conventional TRA structure very much 

like Su described where you have a TRA and there is a housing forum, for example.  We would attend and 

answer questions on schemes at the housing forum and other bodies like that.  We are brought in to answer 

questions or give advice. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That process is managed by the Council? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Yes, it is entirely managed by the 

Council, yes.  They summons us to come and talk about a technical issue or whatever. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you find that you are attending all of those? 

 

Page 35



 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  We send someone to all the standing 

meetings, yes, so that we are represented.  If there is a technical question, it can be answered or, if it is a 

question about estate regeneration, it can be answered. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Ms Gomer, I know you have been involved since at least the early 1990s 

in Hillingdon.  Perhaps you can give us examples of how tenants are involved in the governance structure in 

Lambeth. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  The Council has recently reviewed the whole of its governance 

operating structure and its involvement with residents.  The revised structure includes a form of Area Boards 

where residents are part of Area Boards.  The first meetings of these new Area Boards started this month.  The 

Area Boards will consider performance and a whole range of KPIs. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You are saying a new Board or a new structure is coming? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  A new engagement structure, which includes an area board structure.  One 

of the things that the Area Boards are being asked to do - and it was part of the meetings that are happening 

this month - is to look at what review areas they want to look at.  There would be two levels of reviews with 

the area boards themselves leading on initial reviews of areas they want to look at and then looking at what 

formal reviews they want to move into, which includes the recommendations for which task-and-finish groups 

they would like to recommend. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Su, sorry to interrupt.  You said the residents are on these Area Boards.  Are they only 

residents on those Boards or are they also made up of other individuals?  Sorry, I was not clear. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  It would be both.  It is TRAs and residents -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Yes, and councillors and independents or -- 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  As I said, it is an engagement forum and then the residents in those 

Area Boards would scrutinise key areas and KPIs and, indeed, would also look at where they want additional 

scrutiny of the key areas-- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  What happens to that?  I know that it is a new structure and so you were 

not so happy with the old structure? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  There were issues in relation to the existing structure and there was quite a 

lot of involvement and surveys with residents as to what they wanted for a new structure, what was right with 

the old structure, what was wrong with the old structure and how we would move forward. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  What would happen, just for an example, on one of these Boards if there 

was a concern on a Board?  I am going to move off fire safety because we covered that.  Say there was a 

concern about - I do not know - rats in a particular estate and the Area Board picked that up.  What would 

Page 36



 

 

happen to that piece of information?  What would happen to that recommendation?  Where would it then go 

and who would hear that? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Officers would be attending those boards as well and there would then be 

local TRA meetings.  If there were actions that were picked up, the officers attending those Boards would then 

respond to those actions.  The point you raised was a housing management action. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You are relying on the officer who is attending that Board to take that 

piece of information and then turn that into action? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  It would not be just one officer; it would be a number of officers who 

were there.  The boards would be properly supported in terms of governance, so that there were minutes of 

Board meetings and there were actions identified. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I am going to ask this to other people as well, do not worry.  The reason 

we are having this today - if I can go back to what the Chair was saying -is that one of the concerns raised by 

some residents of Grenfell was they perceived a situation where it was as though their recommendations did 

not really get anywhere.  Other inquiries are going to determine whether or not that was the case.  However, 

certainly from our own personal experience - I have sat on residents’ boards in Hillingdon, as you know, and in 

Hackney - I have experienced a situation where we have officers attending residents’ meetings, residents will 

come up with an issue and officers will say, “Yes, we will deal with that”.  Then it comes up for the subsequent 

ten meetings because there does not seem to be an imperative to get that going; hence, we are having this 

meeting to find out what works. 

 

Perhaps what I should be asking you is whether you consider your tenants ‘customers’, ‘partners’ or 

‘shareholders’, what are they? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  They are partners.  There has to be a relationship between the providers 

providing a service and the residents receiving a service because, as mentioned earlier on in this meeting, there 

has to be working with each other in terms of the services that are delivered. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I have sat on so many of these boards.  When a Board comes to a 

conclusion, does that then go up somewhere or is it just relying on officers taking action?  Is it then on the 

agenda of some other body? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  Then we have an engagement forum, which also includes member-led 

forums as well.  We also have what is called overview and scrutiny forums and we have a corporate committee 

forum. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Potentially, if a decision was taken at an Area Board that could then go 

up to a member-level board or committee or something? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  The point that you had raised earlier on was:  if there were actions that 

were requested at a meeting how can you ensure that they are actually carried out?  Some of those actions 

Page 37



 

 

may be policy actions and would need a policy interface with members.  Other actions would be in terms of the 

notes of a meeting and ensuring actions are carried out so that there is ongoing scrutiny.  They are not just 

noted by officers who are attending; they are noted by the Council’s governance forum as well. 

 

Yes, it is fair to say and I have also been at meetings where we have experienced residents’ frustration, “We 

asked that last meeting and it has not been covered”.  There may be various reasons for that, but it is ensuring 

that there will always be a response and an update to questions that are raised at that.  It may be that one 

question has been answered but there is a further iteration of that question that goes towards that. 

 

I completely understand that some residents might feel - and I have seen what the Grenfell residents felt - 

issues were not responded to.  It is partly how you scrutinise, how you ensure that actions are taken from your 

various area boards, and how that is picked up through governance. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Who are the Area Boards chaired by? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  There is a link between our members, our officers and our residents. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Who chairs them, though?   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Do the members as a whole elect a Chair? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  It could be a resident, it could be a councillor, it could be -- 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  The area board function is new and so it is only just bedding down this 

month.  My particular focus is on construction and asset management, so I do not want to say something out 

of turn in terms of how that is going to bed down. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  All right.  Ms Brown, you have scrutiny bodies and those are chaired by 

who? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Residents or an independent.  Officers go.  

For example, if they have an ongoing issue, they will call me to say, “Chyrel, we would like you to attend this 

meeting”.  I do go to regular meetings with those bodies.  In terms of our governance structure we have two 

residents who go to our Board.  We have a subcommittee of our board called the Group Housing Services 

Board and it will put questions to the Group Board if things are still arising or still of concern to it. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That scrutiny structure allows a particular issue to be escalated to 

another decision-making board -- 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  -- or to a decision-making board because these scrutiny committees are 

not decision-making, that is correct? 

 

Page 38



 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes.  They have debate and make 

recommendations, but if they think there is something that is a global challenge for the organisation they will 

escalate it up through our structures. 

 

We also have a tracker.  If questions on the task-and-finish groups are recommended, we track them through 

our internal audit teams to make sure those items are closed down.  Those are the formal task-and-finish 

groups, but the officers deal with the enquiries at a more local level. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  All right.  To what extent can you ensure that you are getting a cross-

section of residents?  I have sat on many of these meetings and it is the same faces and a small minority of the 

estate or whatever it is.  A tiny minority will turn up to every meeting.   

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Only because their issue has not been dealt with. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  It is because their issue has not been dealt with, possibly, or they need to 

get out of this cold.  Whatever the reason is, they turn up.  It is the same faces and you do not see the 

majority.  How do you address that issue? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  That is an ongoing challenge for us as an 

organisation in terms of representation.  Residents will come to us more frequently if there is a challenge and, 

as that challenge is addressed, they wean off in terms of the time and the commitment. 

 

Therefore, we try to make our engagement process formal as well as informal.  We have an online platform that 

people can post questions on or chat between themselves with residents to capture what is going on and take 

up some of those themes.  At the same time the work I do with my teams on the ground, about capturing that 

information and picking up things that are coming up in the inspections, are where we get the majority of the 

voice. 

 

I do recognise that if I look at a cross-section of my groups they are not completely representative, but at the 

same time they offer invaluable insight on the things that they are hearing on the ground.  I have to balance 

what I am hearing. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Mr Bates, your structure sounds a lot more like you have shareholders 

than customers.  Those residents can make decisions, is that correct? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It is very simple.  We are small 

enough to be simple.  The Board, collectively, has absolute decision-making power.  My job description is to 

implement its decisions as long as they are legal and within the scope of our contract with Southwark.  That is 

absolutely straightforward.  If I did not implement any Board decisions I would be in an awful lot of trouble. 

 

In terms of picking up information from the ground, again, we have the tenants’ association structure.  If 

directors at the tenants’ association do not think that we are dealing with issues effectively, they can escalate 

it to the main Board and the main Board would make a decision to make us resolve those problems. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yours is a pure, almost Greek democracy from Plato’s time type of 

structure. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That cannot be very democratic because it did not involve any women, did it, Andrew? 

 

Page 39



 

 

 Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Or slaves. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, slaves and so forth; just about anyone, really.  Then, Ms Brown, 

yours is more about ensuring you hear the residents’ voices and working to hear the residents’ voices.  We will 

give Ms Gomer a free pass because it is a new organisation.  However, it is telling that Lambeth has recently 

reinvented itself, which must mean that they were not happy with what was there before. 

 

What are the techniques that we can employ to get resident involvement?  I am no fount of knowledge on this.  

If I knew, I would probably be doing some really well-paid job in consultancy.  How do we get more residents 

involved in what matters?  How do we stop the feeling some residents have that their involvement is possibly 

futile?  I have heard that so many times from residents, even when that is not true. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Our Area Boards are chaired by residents.  One point that I would say is that 

what does sometimes happen is that, regardless of which form of governance you are in, you have residents 

who then become formal members of boards, whether they are ALMO boards, TMO boards and others.  There 

are some residents who then are on the outside of those and, even though those residents who are on the 

inside of that governance on area board may have been nominated by other residents, there sometimes 

becomes a disconnect between residents who are on the boards and who have been perhaps nominated by 

others and residents who are not on boards. The ongoing communication, the networks and the branch-out 

with residents has to ensure residents do not feel disconnected just because they may not be sitting on a 

board. That is an ongoing challenge through all of my years in terms of resident involvement and scrutiny 

about how you can help that. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes. It is not an easy job. It really is not.  Ms Brown? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  I would echo that in terms of not taking it 

for granted that those involved residents are going to spread the word wider than the forum that they are in.  

You might do a lot of work trying to unpick or resolve a problem raised by that group, but we have to be very 

clear about how far we disseminate that message and demonstrate that that has been captured because it has 

been put up through the different structures.  It is an ongoing challenge. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Can you give us a concrete example where residents have influenced a 

change in your organisation? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Through our task-and-finish group, for 

example, we inspect a number of services.  Our task-and-finish group inspected our empty homes and lettings 

in our voids process.  We used to do a lettable standard about what we did on somebody moving into that 

property and they had made recommendations about that standard in terms of the work we do before 

somebody moves in.  We adapted our standards in accordance with some of the challenges they made, which 

were rightfully so in terms of what repairs we do upfront and getting people to move in and doing the works 

retrospectively.  We have shaped some of our processes based on that feedback and demonstrated to residents 

that, because residents said this, this is what we have done. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Presumably, I do not even need to ask you, Mr Bates, about that because 

that is how your organisation is: everything comes from the tenants? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It is still a challenge for us.  We 

like meetings because people come and debate and they hear other people’s points of view, so we still prefer 

Page 40



 

 

meetings to surveys.  However, again, because we are small, we just bang out as much information as we can 

through websites and Twitter and Facebook.  Then we can connect with our residents’ representatives’ 

Facebook pages because they have thousands more friends than we have.  We are not so large that we have to 

be corporate and, if we get our communication a bit wrong, people will live with that.  Therefore, we think it is 

better to communicate than communicate perfectly. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you have an example of where a change has taken place directly as a 

result of -- 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes.  A challenge for everybody 

is just providing a reliable repair service.  One of the things that came through the tenants’ associations and 

then through the board is that you phone up for any service and you get a receipt number.  I said, “That is not 

terribly useful because somebody could just be writing that down.  What we need to give you is the job 

number to prove that it has been ordered and we need to tell you when the job is going to be completed”, and 

so, interestingly, we always offer that.  Probably only about 25% of people take it up.  Lots of people say, 

“Yes, that is fine”, but in 25% of cases it means that people have confirmation that the job is on the system 

and they know when it should be done. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is interesting because one of my questions that I had almost 

forgotten to ask was whether your residents sign off jobs. 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  We do two things.  One is that 

we send them satisfaction slips and two is that we do about a 10% sample of calls and phone people up.  

Again, because we are small, if things go wrong, people are very quick to tell us if it has gone wrong. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Ms Brown? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We do satisfaction surveys across our jobs.  

We do a percentage each month and we go in and get all the feedback.  We look into trends, which we take up 

with our contractors on a monthly basis. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Residents themselves do not directly sign off? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  They do not sign off.  We post-inspect a 

sample of jobs in terms of what the contractors do.  We also work with the information we get from resident 

surveys. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Many of us will have experienced situations like I had when I was a 

councillor in Hackney of a resident coming to me and saying, “They have signed off this job and they have 

painted over the windows while they were closed”.  That was signed off by the manager and the resident was 

not involved in any of it.  You survey? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  We survey and we sample from the surveys 

as well. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Would it be a huge administrative issue for residents to be involved in 

the signoff process? 

 

Page 41



 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  I do not think so because you 

just send a satisfaction slip and ask them to -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  And wait until you get a response? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes, but be proactive and 

phone people up as well, and also do your own post-inspections. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Our telephone calls are independent.  The 

surveying team does call them up and say, “How was that job?  What was the contractor like?” 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Specifically, down to a specific job, rather than generally, “Are you happy 

with this”? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Specifically, to a job, yes.  We do repair 

satisfaction as well as overall satisfaction. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We have a similar approach to the point that Chyrel has mentioned.  Back to 

the question that you asked in relation to what has changed, the task-and-finish group was looking at major 

works and leasehold billing.  One of the points it picked up was that we deliver our services under a long-term 

qualifying agreement whereby the qualifying agreements and the contracts were set up some years ago and 

then you pull down when you need to do the works.  It was noted that technical works were not re-procured 

when we re-procured major works because they were part of an earlier contract procurement.  Then, for 

2014/15, we agreed that we would go out to the market again for our technical contracts for that year.  We 

did.  We checked the market. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Did that issue come from residents? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  It did come from residents. It came from residents as part of the in-depth 

level of the scrutiny that we were undertaking.  It was leaseholders who raised that point, but it was a joint 

tenant-and-leaseholder forum.  There are other actions arising from that task-and-finish group, which were 

reviewed and were clearly what residents wanted.  Therefore, we followed them through, but that was one 

example. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  I expected quite a lot of supplementary questions on this issue because we have 

asked you all about your governance arrangements.  I have Assembly Member Copley and then I have 

Assembly Member Devenish. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What sparked it in my mind was what was mentioned about a potential divide between 

residents and residents who are on governing bodies.  One thing that has been said to me before is that just 

putting a tenant or two on a board is not the most effective way of doing it, in part because they then become, 

essentially, a director or trustee.  Their duty is to the organisation and not necessarily to the tenants, and they 

have a fiduciary duty and all of that. 

 

Would you agree?  Is it the view of the panel that that is the case and that there are other ways that are more 

effective of involving tenants, for example, through the forums that have been mentioned and things like 

that? 

Page 42



 

 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  It has to be a mixture.  It has to be like an involvement web so that you are 

picking up not just, if you like, the people in the know but the people who are not in the know.  You 

consistently go to meetings and think, “We have gone through this”, but then other residents will say, “We did 

not know because we did not come to that group”.  It has to be a web. 

 

You have to use all vehicles of liaison and information - colleagues have mentioned Twitter and Facebook - 

and how people want to liaise.  Our leaseholders have found it very efficient recently to ensure that they have 

a specific Facebook and Twitter response just for them so that they can immediately get information around to 

each other.  If they go to a forum and somebody says something, it is immediately around to the rest of the 

group. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  I completely agree.  It is having that 360 in 

terms of when they run the boards, how we also support the message going back down to the local groups.  

Just leaving it to those residents alone to advocate the message or to share the message is not enough as an 

organisation.  We still have a responsibility look at what the groups are saying locally ourselves and to get 

involved in those groups, even as a touchpoint, rather than just accepting what is coming up through. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yours is a slightly different view, Andy, is it not?  Are all your directors residents?  Is that 

the way? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It is ten elected directors and 

then we have three co-optees.  It is an issue because, as you said, people suddenly have legal duties and 

people have bureaucratic duties.  Also, people operate across a number of estates.  Part of it is that people 

keep the energy of a tenant activist and they do effectively raise issues, but also act as representatives of the 

organisation as well. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Andy talked earlier about how issues had fallen away, I quote, after Grenfell.  In terms of 

engagement, have you seen an upturn in engagement - in terms of not the same two or three residents - since 

Grenfell in terms of the community?  Have the numbers gone up from dozens to hundreds or - dare I even say 

it - from hundreds to thousands?  Is it the same few characters engaging or is it wider engagement broadly 

across social media, meetings, etc, post-Grenfell? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  It would be lovely if I could tell 

you that lots more people got involved.  We did have a meeting with the Southwark fire expert that was pretty 

well attended.   

 

Tony Devenish AM:  How many people is “pretty well attended”? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Fifteen people.  Our experience 

is that through our existing structures, fire safety has become the main issue.  Certainly, people in our tower 

blocks expected us to get out and talk to them individually very quickly after the Grenfell fire. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  The other thing I wanted to ask about, which I have had recently for a completely 

different issue of Tube noise, is residents in one part of London being very good at feeding into the process 

than another part of London.  Have you heard anything from people in Camden or - dare I say it - in North 

Page 43



 

 

Kensington feeding in to you and saying, “Make sure you look at this”?  Is there any specific feedback that has 

been helpful in terms of fire doors, whitegoods, appliances or whatever? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes.  It is an issue for the 

London Tenants Federation, which has a network of tenants’ organisations across London.  It has been 

collating information and also had a conference where there was workshop on it.  They are really under-

resourced and it would be much better if there was more money around for residents to get about and share 

experiences.  Given the general climate of under-resourcing, certainly the London Tenants Federation has  

co-ordinated activity on this. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Great.  Thank you. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  When I was the chair of an area housing association, we had regular walkabouts, which 

were announced to the tenants, with relevant officers and ward council members to go and look at the estates.  

There was progress reporting and so we would go back to find out what had been done.  It was not just 

external, but tenants could call us in to look at whether the damp had been looked at or the locks changed or 

whatever.  There were member forums and so on, but I had the feeling that there is no substitute for being 

onsite.  It is not just the reporting; it is the progress chasing.  Is that done regularly with any of you? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  We have regular what we call ‘Wednesday walkabouts’ every Wednesday.  

We have over 100 estates and they are scheduled.  Every Wednesday there is a walkabout onsite looking at 

different issues in relation to the estate and knocking on doors.  Officers there will be knocking on doors of 

residents, seeing who is in and what issues are pertinent to people, so that we are picking that up.  As well as 

inspecting and officers going out with contractors, we are also knocking on doors.  It might be that residents’ 

representatives are with us on the inspection, but we want to understand what the wider group of residents are 

saying so that we do pick that up. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You go back to those estates? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is going back and seeing.  It is the follow-up that is the crucial bit. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Yes.  A number of things would be seen specifically, like the external 

environment, cleanliness, caretaking issues, what the communal areas look like, residents’ concerns in terms of 

facilities for children and what the playgrounds are looking like.  It is that sort of thing.  All of those actions are 

followed up by the resident estate manager, who takes particular responsibility for that particular estate.  It is 

knocking on doors of residents - and it is not just estate managers, I have been on those and others are going 

on those - just to see what residents are feeling like at the time in terms of issues that are occurring. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  My feeling is that the types of organisations delivering social housing have been 

changing with, in particular, a lot of merging and growth.  We now have organisations like the Clarion Housing 

Group all over East Anglia, London and the southeast; A2Dominion from - I do not know - Southend, I think, 

definitely all the way down to Bristol; and London and Quadrant have a huge number of units in management.  

It would be fair to say that over the years housing management and the interface with the tenants, 

leaseholders and residents has always been the ‘Cinderella service’; and I say that in front of Pat and obviously 

Page 44



 

 

his organisation is mainly focused around all the exciting things to do with regeneration and development.  Do 

you think, in that context, the huge growth of some of these organisations - much more geographically spread 

than just being in one London borough - has had an impact on the ability to really truly involve residents in the 

decisions that are being made? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  I work for an organisation and I manage 

from East Anglia down to Southampton.  The challenge is around how residents connect with the organisation 

and believe that their voices are heard and recognised.  In terms of our governance structures and resident 

involvement, we have been on a journey of evolution to make sure we capture the local groups and put them 

through a structure in which they can see how they are recognised.  However, we understand the challenges 

about local issues and how somebody’s challenge in Southampton may not be recognised by somebody as a 

challenge in Lambeth.  How do we cater for that? 

 

We have gone through a process of informal local meetings with property managers out there with the local 

teams, as well as having a more global digital service where we offer an online Moodle where residents can talk 

to each other from all over the country.  What you will see is common issues about what residents are saying 

and how they are communicating.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Give us an example. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  An example is around the visibility of what 

we do and when we do it and, if a decision is made about changing a service, their connectivity to it, “How can 

I get involved?  When did I know?  If you are going to close that reception or open that reception, why?”  It is 

around being able to share with residents what that looks like.  We have a customer service centre and people 

challenged, “Why is that in London?”, or, “Why is that in Chichester?  Why can it not be in Peterborough?”  It 

is about being very transparent about the service offer available and sometimes being clear about the why 

nots.  Sometimes the challenge for residents is when you do not say and they leap to their own conclusions 

rather than being completely transparent with the whys and the why nots. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  When those changes in the organisation are taking place - you have just given some 

really good examples of the front-facing interface with residents - there are also more structural changes as 

well.  I do not know whether for all of the tenants of the Clarion Housing Group – I don’t know, a massive poll 

was conducted to say, “We are going to take on” - I do not know - “Merton Priory Homes or Tower Hamlets 

Homes and we are going to bring it in and we are going to expand to this very large organisation”.  Should 

residents be involved in making those more strategic decisions?  I can see a nod from next to you immediately, 

but it is a bit easier for you, Andy [Bates], actually, to be fair. 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes.  In Hyde and in other organisations I 

have worked with, when we have gone through mergers, we have used our formal residents’ governance 

structure to engage with residents.  When we were looking to merge with an organisation we got the 

formalised groups together in a room and said, “This is what it is going to be.  What would you like in terms of 

a new governance model in terms of resident engagement as we move forward?”  We were taking the best of 

each organisation and seeing what we came up with.  Now some residents in the different organisations are 

structured in different ways and the politics of the groups also have to be harmonised in terms of what bits you 

take and what bits you do not take.  However, I think that it is critical for all organisations that -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Do you mean like how federated you are? 

 

Page 45



 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  How federated you are.  For example, I do 

independent scrutiny with another organisation and they have a tension between the out-of-London group 

and the inner-London group about who gets most visibility from the organisation based on how they have 

developed over the years.  As an organisation you have to be mindful that you are not favouring one particular 

method over another, at the same time understanding what things you are really wanting to hear from your 

residents and how you are showing strategically that your policies and procedures are being shaped by the 

voices of those residents. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We have touched on the thorny issue of the setting up of the ALMOs and balloting with 

tenants to say whether or not they wanted to be outsourced in that way.  That is why the Kensington and 

Chelsea TMO is fundamentally different because it took place at a different time.  The ALMOs always included 

from the beginning of that - those that were set up at that period of 2002, 2003, 2004 - they were going to 

take on these big tasks, doing a lot of major renewal work to buildings and blocks, and not just day-to-day 

management, maintenance and lettings.  How involved, if there is a big structural change like that going on, 

should residents be in that decision?  Let us say Southwark decided it was going to do something completely 

different with its stock.  Should all of the residents be balloted with a big information exercise -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That was my question. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Sorry.  Am I going into your question? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You are going into my question there. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We will have further questions on regeneration coming up, Assembly Member 

Cooper.  Is it mergers you are talking about primarily? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, I am not talking about regeneration necessarily; I am just talking about the actual 

management here.  It seems to me that that was one of the problems that happened with the Kensington and 

Chelsea TMO, that they did do some of those changes to take on doing these larger structural improvements.  I 

do not know whether at the same time they became more focused on the regeneration and development side 

and perhaps that then obscured the ability to continue the engagement with the residents.  I just put that out 

there.   

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  There is a real issue here in 

terms of that.  The traditional public-sector view has been to very much focus on governance and involvement 

of people in governance and possibly lose sight of the service delivery.  The traditional council housing 

department many years ago delivered a fairly poor service but tenants were fairly involved with it.  There needs 

to be a much greater focus on standards and delivery of really high-standard housing management, at which 

point people tend to be less worried about whether they are involved in the decision-making because 

everything is being done properly.  One of the big learning points for both the Registered Social Landlord 

sector and for housing departments is improving service quality and getting to what is genuinely best in the 

market. 

 

I do have concerns in terms of the scale of some of these new mega housing associations.  Who will do  

smaller-scale development, for example, on small sites because they become, effectively, large-scale 

development organisations?  At some time, we will probably have to reinvent the small developing housing 

association that works at a community level, building ten homes here, five homes there, etc. 

 

Page 46



 

 

There are also real issues in terms of how an organisation of that scale can do development effectively as, in all 

but name, a very large-scale private developer and at the same time be managing an enormous portfolio of 

stock.  There is a real issue there for everybody, particularly if mergers continue because you can see us being 

down to two major housing associations in London at the rate we are at the moment.  They will fight each 

other on Waterloo Bridge as to who is the last one standing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Do you think it is going to be called ‘Hyde and Q’? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes, or ‘Family and Q’ or 

something, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We are running out of time.  Sorry.  We are enjoying ourselves discussing the wider 

issues, but our investigation is going to look into this more widely. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, that is really important, the balance between the development in the regeneration 

and retrofit and also how to keep that focus on the day-to-day, nitty-gritty stuff that is so important for the 

residents.  Thank you. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Sorry to interrupt but we have one more section to go.  Assembly Member Boff 

wants to ask a question? 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Just very quickly on this, because of course we are talking about this 

change to residents’ involvement, what was it that happened in Lambeth that made you want to change the 

residents’ involvement?  Did you rather dramatically sack a few residents from the board or something like 

that? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  The residents’ involvement structure had been in place for some time.  

Soundings were being taken from residents via surveys as to how involved they were in structures and how 

involved they were in engagement.  It was felt that you could move to a new form of resident engagement, 

which includes the Area Boards, and test that to see if it was bringing in a wider form of involvement through 

different residence groups.   

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  How did you persuade residents that it was not a situation where the 

Council did not like what the residents were saying and so got rid of those residents and got some other ones 

on? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  You would never change residents’ perceptions.  Residents may have that 

perception and you would not challenge that.  What you would want to say is move to a different form of 

engagement that is meant to be more inclusive and see how that is working through the first year. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  I have one final question for you.  You are not unique in Lambeth at setting up a 

housing company to do some of the regenerations and things like that.  As I understand it, there are quite a lot 

of infill projects going on in Lambeth.  Is it going to result in maybe there being an estate that is mainly 

Council-managed with a block within it that is instead managed by the separate company?  How does that 

work?  Will that cause problems for resident engagement if there are different residents with different 

statuses? 

 

Page 47



 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Unfortunately, Sue Foster [OBE, Strategic Director, Neighbourhoods and 

Growth, London Borough of Lambeth] was going to cover an amount of the regeneration issues, I know she 

said she would follow up. 

 

What I would do, though, is draw from previous experiences in other boroughs.  Where we had an estate that 

has had residents who are from housing associations or councils or TMOs what we tried to move towards was 

common management standards.  Regardless of whether the landlord was different, residents on that estate 

would have a certain form of common management standards.  That is drawing from previous experience. 

 

However, as I said, Sue did say she would follow up in terms of questions on regeneration and the points you 

have raised.  I will make sure she does. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Yes, that will be really useful, especially if the Area Boards are there -- 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  Of course. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  -- to provide some sort of common forum between different people.  Yes, some 

more detail would be useful and maybe some diagrams. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  I will do that, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Moving on to the final section of our meeting, this is about the work of 

the Mayor, who has been getting involved in this lately.  Assembly Member Copley? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Indeed.  Thank you very much, Chair.  First of all, to Andy, getting on to the subject of 

estate regeneration, what is your approach at Leathermarket to resident involvement and engagement in this 

type of estate regeneration? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  There are two parts.  One is 

major works.  As I said in my introduction, delivering high-quality major works is a real challenge.  One of the 

things we found is that we could deliver a £1 million contract, but if somebody would not like a particular 

element of it like the floor covering -- So, what we do is publicise the specification very early and we try to 

involve people in talking about the detail of the specification.  We keep residents involved right the way 

through, including interviewing contractors because that reinforces in the contractors’ minds that we are a 

resident-managed organisation and that quality is really important to us.  Then there is also the feedback 

whilst the contract is underway and then the formal involvement of residents at the end of the contract. 

 

In terms of development, we have set up a separate organisation called the Leathermarket Community Benefit 

Society.  The role is to build homes at council rent.  Our approach has very much been infill and so to look for 

areas of estates that are underused.  I know this is contentious, but my take is that a number of estates in the 

1950s were built to fairly generous external standards, some of the areas are not particularly needed and so 

they offer opportunities for new build.  Again, as a community-based organisation we are very well placed to 

consult on that because we have the existing consultation structures in place, but we have gone for [the 

approach] to start with a genuinely blank piece of paper and then we will work up from there. 

 

Page 48



 

 

Our experience is that we are now building 27 homes on a difficult site.  We got the site because it was too 

difficult for Southwark Council to build on.  Due to the quality of our consultation we had no formal objections 

at the planning stage, which just flabbergasted the Southwark planning officers. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  When you say “quality of our consultation”, what sorts of things are you doing?  If you 

were to say to other organisations that are doing infill how to do it so that you end up in a situation where 

nobody objects? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  I would say do not start from 

zero.  You need trust and you need existing structures.  Too often regeneration feels dropped in.  It is a new 

set of people.  There is no organic connection and it gets off to a really bad start.  We were lucky because 

people trusted us to do the repairs, people trusted us to do the major works, people trusted that we clean the 

estate, and that flowed through to infill. 

 

Then, as I say, start the consultation off with a blank piece of paper.  Be prepared for two people at the back 

who will just stand and shout.  You then need to keep the consultation going in a genuine way.  Listen to 

people’s concerns, address people’s concerns and feedback on people’s concerns. 

 

The other thing is that, if you are talking about building on an estate, you will naturally have a couple of 

people who will be very much against it.  What we did was a really comprehensive housing needs strategy.  We 

got out and spoke to about half of our tenants.  Against the argument that, “Can you not just leave that 

alone?  It is going to be noisey.  It is going to be disruptive”, we had the information about the number of 

people who were going to be rehoused.  A local allocations element is absolutely essential to this. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Does Southwark do your allocations, or do you? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Southwark on its own new 

builds has agreed a 50% local allocation element.  If an estate is taking an infill scheme, it is 50% local 

allocations.  They applied that to us.  We worked the deal slightly differently in that there were three 

developments going on and we did not take any allocation rights on Southwark’s development, which meant 

that we could have 100% on our own development.  That meant that we could identify the people going in 

there very early because it was principally people whom we had attempted to downsize with the offer of 

new-build accommodation that would suit their needs as they grew older. 

 

Again, we were lucky that we had the counterweight of people saying, “No, you should not be building on 

housing estates” but we had other people who were saying, “Look, I desperately need to be rehoused”. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I see.  I am sorry, I do not quite what stage you are at, but are you getting a lot of uptake 

for downsizing?  This is another area we are quite interested in. 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes.  We are building 27 units 

at the moment and it is principally people who are downsizing who are moving into that.  They are people who 

would not have downsized under the Council’s allocation system. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  From family housing? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  From family housing. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You can then fill the family housing? 

Page 49



 

 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  Yes, precisely. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Your approach is not one that involves demolition, I believe.  Is that right? 

 

Andy Bates (Joint Management Board Manager, Leathermarket JMB):  That is right. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am interested maybe in hearing from one of the councils or from Hyde.  If you are doing 

schemes that involve demolition, how do you involve residents in that? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  At Hyde we had the big regeneration that 

we did at Packington, where we had a big knockdown-and-replacement programme.  The lessons from that 

were very much about the authenticity of the conversation and not starting off with a predetermined outcome 

when you are speaking to the residents.  Throughout that programme we consistently had the same members 

of staff who were working with those residents, and followed through on the actions and the things that were 

suggested in terms of maintaining the service offer. 

 

Also, the relationship with the contractor - showing that we were all accountable for what they were doing and 

the offer made to residents - was also very much part of our offer to the residents.  The residents generally 

have seen that we were making changes based on their challenges or suggestions.  It was not as though they 

were on the forum with us and we railroaded them because we, as the contractor, or we, as the housing 

association, were the experts.  We offered training to get them up to speed with what the decision-making 

was.  Now those residents are the advocates and are involved in other formal structures in the business 

because of the work that we did with them.  We have turned some very sceptical residents into believing in 

terms of what we are able to achieve with the ability to push and challenge. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Was there a ballot because it was a stock transfer? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Yes, there was. 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  The main thing is actually painstaking 

door-knocking and talking to people, identifying not collective issues but individual issues in terms of what 

people want out of the process.  If they want to move somewhere else, then identify that, help them do that 

and be able to deliver for them as well.  It is on that level of painstaking door-knocking.  It is also about 

keeping people informed about the process, doing it through face-to-face contact and also social media and 

things that get to younger people, people who are working and people who have lots of other obligations.  If 

you try to do it through formal structures you never get there.  That is a huge lesson. 

 

It is also about the offer that you have and the involvement in the early stages.  You need to get buy-in around 

the design and you need to get buy-in in terms of the programme.  Also, the Mayor is absolutely right - and it 

is a point he has picked up - you have to be re-providing the social housing in an equivalent format.  You have 

to enable everybody who wants to stay there to stay if they want to.  It is part of the discussion.  If they want 

to go somewhere else - whether it is out of London, another part of London or somewhere else in the borough 

- then that should be enabled. 

 

You have to provide a decent offer for leaseholders, particularly for those leaseholders who are genuinely 

occupier leaseholders in terms of either an alternative property, a cash sum or a shared ownership property on 

the estate.  There are often issues around the equity value that they have. 

 

Page 50



 

 

It is about practical solutions for all those sorts of things.  Then people tend to go with the scheme because 

the scheme is thought out and they are treated in a way that they are treated in any other transaction with an 

organisation.  That is the big thing: this is their home, but it is a transaction and you have to treat people in 

the appropriate way, making sure that their needs are met and that they are looked after. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What about the issue of ballots for residents whose homes are facing demolition?  The 

Mayor is now proposing them for the schemes that he funds.  Do you think they are a good idea? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  I do not know whether they are.  

Certainly, my experience in Ealing was that we pushed a very large number of schemes through.  We never 

balloted on them but there was almost overwhelming resident support for those schemes because the 

principles were there.  The actual resident dissatisfaction was around delay, “Are you getting on with it?  Can 

you move faster?  Can our element be the next phase rather than the last phase?” 

 

The issue with ballots is making sure that the information is there at the start.  We all know from experience 

that a binary ballot is not necessarily a great thing.  Perhaps use a more sophisticated form of ballot, whether 

you do it on a block-by-block basis or whether you do it on a much wider area.  Also, how you deal with issues 

around absentee leaseholders, for example, who will always vote against any change because there will be a 

cost on them and the potential void of their property, etc.  Ballots are clearly going to be there, but it is 

making sure that we do not just get into a binary ballot situation all the time.  There is possibly greater 

sophistication around that ballot in terms of both the question that is asked and the context of who takes part.  

We have to look after the interests of people who are currently on the housing waiting list and are not looking 

for housing yet but we will do soon, people who might have to downsize to a particular form of 

accommodation, etc. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Did you put in a response to the Mayor’s consultation on -- 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  We have not done yet. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Did you put one in to the previous one on the estate regeneration and make those points, I 

assume? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Su, could I come to you with the same question on resident engagement and also the 

question of whether or not ballots are a good idea when demolition is involved, as the Mayor was saying? 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  As I said, Sue Foster [OBE, Strategic Director, Neighbourhoods and Growth, 

London Borough of Lambeth] was going to cover that area. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  All right.  If you do not want to -- 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  There were a number of key points that I know she wanted to make.  Up 

until last night she was coming and so we have not had a proper debrief for me to be able to respond. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Perhaps she could write to the Chair. 

 

Page 51



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, I am sure she could. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  She has offered to do that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We are slightly short of time now anyway, but I am sure she could write to us. 

 

Su Gomer (Assistant Director, Housing Capital & Asset Management, Strategic Programmes, 

London Borough of Lambeth):  She has offered to do that, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I was just going back very quickly to Hyde.  I know we had talked about the ballot for 

Packington, but do you think in principle they are a good idea?  Do you agree with the Mayor’s approach that 

he has set out? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Just as Pat said, there has to be nuance in 

the ballot in terms of making sure that it covers different aspects and you are not just getting a slanted view 

from a binary yes or no.  Having worked previously in another organisation on a stock transfer where it was a 

binary yes or no, when we looked into the people who had said no, there were legitimate reasons but it was 

ring fenced around a particular issue, not necessarily for the wider regeneration of that area.  It was picked up 

that leaseholders, for example, were concerned about the cost of the works, what they were going to be 

charged and how they were going to repay.  You have to have nuances to your offer in the first instance and 

buy-in and shaping up your offer, rather than saying that a ballot is your thing to get buy-in for the scheme.  I 

would say thinking about your offer block by block and how you present that to the different clientele in that 

scheme, and so just some intelligence, I would say. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  The reputation of regeneration is not a particularly high one at the moment.  Do you think 

that ballots would help to, first of all, because not all organisations or councils are, let us say, as good as others 

at engaging with tenants?  Would you think that, first of all, it would necessitate them doing that?  Secondly, 

do you think it confers legitimacy on the scheme? 

 

Chyrel Brown (Director of Resident Services, Hyde Group):  Having more lessons learnt around 

engagement, being more widely accepted or debated about what the offer should be and how you work to get 

that position has to be shared because, without that - as Pat [Hayes] said - the door-knocking, the intelligence 

and the understanding of what your residents want, no matter how you present it, if it does not suit the 

residents in that community, they are going to say no, even if on paper it looks like a masterplan that is going 

to transform their world.  As my colleague said, it is a partnership.  As a stakeholder they have to feel that 

there is benefit as well as compromises which they truly accept rather than being forced to accept. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I will leave it there because of time. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  I am looking through the list of respondents to the previous consultation on the 

draft estate regeneration guidance, which covered a lot, but it did not cover ballots.  It did not even ask a 

question about ballots, but it also has a lot of questions about the Mayor’s proposals.  I can see that 

Leathermarket responded, Hyde Group responded, and Lambeth Council responded.  Pat, you have recently 

moved out of Ealing, which did respond.  It looks like Barking and Dagenham did not.  Can you possibly look 

into that and find out?  Can we have your responses to the Mayor’s consultation, where they exist? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  My response would probably be the 

same as the Ealing response now. 

Page 52



 

 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Can you send us the Ealing response? 

 

Pat Hayes (Managing Director, Be First Regeneration Limited):  Yes, I will try to. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  That would be useful to see.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  They should all be in the appendices.  They are all published, actually, all the responses.  

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  The actual responses? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I think so.  They are all public, I am pretty sure they are. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We will look into that offline.  I have been chasing that up.  Maybe they are now.  

We are running out of time.  We have further questions about the proposal of having a Social Housing 

Commissioner, but I propose to the Committee that we may have run out of time for that today and we will 

follow up.  We are going to look into this issue more. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  In any case, Chair, we were planning to put those to Sue Foster primarily, who is not 

here. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Perhaps she could include that in the letter 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Exactly, and so we can look further because the Government is planning a Green 

Paper.  The Mayor and others are saying there should be a Social Housing Commissioner and those are issues 

where some of these things might be taken up.  We cannot discuss that anymore today.  Can I just say thank 

you to our guests for your contributions and for staying a bit late?  We have a couple more formal items on our 

agenda we need to just discuss, but you can stay if you want or you can pack up and leave.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  Very interesting. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Housing Committee 
Date: Thursday 15 March 2018 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing 

 

 
Present: 
Sian Berry (Chair) 
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Tom Copley AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
David Kurten AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Tony Devenish AM, for whom Tony Arbour AM 

substituted. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 

Page 55

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Thursday 15 March 2018 

 

 
 

 

3   Summary List of Actions (Item 3) 

 

3.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

3.2 Resolved: 

 

That the outstanding actions arising from a previous meeting of the Committee be 

noted. 

 
 
4   Overcrowding in London Homes (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on overcrowding in London to the following invited guests: 

 John Lumley, Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney; 

 Amanda Amafor, Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham; 

 David Beach, Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation; 

 Ijay Onyechi, Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody; and  

 James Gleeson, Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority 

(GLA)  

 

4.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4.3 During the course of the discussion, Members requested the following additional 

information:  

 The Senior Policy Officer, GLA, to provide clarification on how babies are taken 

account of when using the bedroom standard to look at overcrowding; and 

 The Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham to: 

a) Clarify how overcrowding is measured and presented in Newham’s housing stock; 

and 

b) Provide the outcomes from the appeals going through the Residential Property 

Tribunal. 

 

4.4 Resolved:  

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion.  

Page 56



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Thursday 15 March 2018 

 

 
 

 

5   Housing Committee Work Programme (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the progress on its work programme, as set out in the report, be noted. 

 
 
6   Date of Next Meeting (Item 6) 

 
6.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 24 May 2018 at 2.00pm in 

the Chamber, subject to the confirmation of the London Assembly’s calendar of meetings at 
the Annual Meeting on 10 May 2018. 

 
 
7   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 7) 

 

7.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
8   Close of Meeting  

 

8.1 The meeting ended at 3.32pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee – 15 March 2018 

 
Transcript of Item 4 – Overcrowding in London Homes 

 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Our main item for the day is overcrowding in London’s homes.  We are looking 

particularly at the social and private rented sectors today. 

 

Can I welcome our guests?  We have John Lumley, who is the Director of Regeneration from the London 

Borough of Hackney.  We have Amanda Amafor, who is the Senior Environmental Health Officer for the 

London Borough of Newham.  We have Ijay Onyechi, who is the Head of Lettings, Residents Services, at 

Peabody Housing Association.  We have David Beach, who is the Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation 

from the London Borough of Waltham Forest.  Finally, we have James Gleeson, who is here for the first part of 

our discussion.  He is a Senior Policy Officer from the Greater London Authority (GLA) Housing and Land team.  

Thank you for coming, everybody. 

 

We have been discussing overcrowding quite a lot in the context of the London Plan and the London Housing 

Strategy, and one of the first questions we have for James initially is about data.  Can you outline for us what 

the available data tells us about overcrowding in London and any recent trends that we should know about? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  The first thing 

to say is that there is no single widely accepted measure of overcrowding.  We have a number of different 

measures, each of which has its own strengths and weaknesses.  That is for a number of reasons. 

 

Probably the first reason is that measuring overcrowding always involves some measure of judgement, usually a 

comparison of the conditions that households live in with some sort of normative threshold that we think is 

acceptable or beyond which overcrowding is unacceptable. 

 

The second reason is that it is very hard to measure because to know whether a household is overcrowded you 

have to understand the characteristics of that household and also the characteristics of the accommodation it 

has available to it.  That is not possible without either carrying out a direct inspection or surveying the 

household to ask them.  That is inherently expensive.  As a result, we have a mixture of data from the Census, 

which is carried out every 10 years and covers every household in the country, and sample surveys like the 

English Housing Survey, which is carried out every year but only interviews a sample of households. 

 

Broadly speaking, there are four measures of overcrowding.  One of them is the statutory measure of 

overcrowding, but actually it is not really used to measure overcrowding, strangely enough.  It was introduced 

in 1935 and, even then, it was considered by some to be inadequate or too generous.  Without going into too 

much detail - but I can if you like - it involves two standards.  The first is the room standard, which is reached 

if two people of opposite sexes who are not living together as husband and wife have to sleep in the same 

room.  However, children under 10 are not taken into account, and living rooms and kitchens can be treated as 

available sleeping accommodation.  There is also the space standard, which specifies the maximum number of 

people who can sleep in a dwelling according to the number of rooms available and the floor area of each 

room.  Babies under one year do not count at all and children under 10 count for half a person.  There is a 

complex formula used to assess whether that standard is breached.  As I say, that statutory definition is not 

actually used these days to estimate levels of overcrowding.  The last time it was used or the last estimate I am 

Page 59



 

 

aware of was in the late 1990s when the then Government estimated there was around 25,000 households 

overcrowded in England, according to that definition.  It shows you how tight that is. 

 

The second definition I would mention is from the Census and it is quite simple.  It basically divides the number 

of people in a household by the number of rooms available to it, and it calculates the number of persons per 

room.  Bathrooms, toilets, halls, landing and storage spaces are excluded from the counted rooms.  Households 

with more than one person per room are counted as overcrowded and households with more than 1.5 persons 

per room are considered to be severely overcrowded.  It is quite a simple measure and the good thing about it 

is that it is available over a long stretch of time, and so we have estimates going back to 1931 in London.  It is 

also available for very small geographical areas as you can look at overcrowding in an individual 

neighbourhood.  The disadvantage is, obviously, that the Census is carried out only every 10 years.  The next 

one will be carried out in 2021 and we will not have results until probably late 2022, I would say.  It is the only 

source of information on sub-regional overcrowding levels that we have. 

 

The next measure is one that is used quite widely at the moment and it is called the bedroom standard.  It was 

developed in the 1960s for use in household surveys by the Government.  What it does is it calculates the 

number of bedrooms required by each household according to the composition of that household and the 

relationships between the people in it.  It says that a separate bedroom is required for every married or 

cohabiting couple, anyone else aged 21 or above, each pair of adolescents aged 10 to 20 of the same sex, each 

pair of children under 10 whether they are of the same sex or not, and then any unpaired person aged 10 to 20 

unless they could be paired with a child under 10 of the same sex.  Sorry, this is probably too much detail.  

Anyway, it compares that number of bedrooms required -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  What about babies? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  Sorry? 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Sorry.  The question was: where do babies come into that? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Is a baby half a person or a whole person? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  No, it is a 

whole person in this case, which is -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That is a philosophical -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Is it counted as being with its mother or parent? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  As far as I can 

tell, it is counted separately. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Do they have to share a bedroom if they are under one? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  No, I don’t 

think so.  Any child under 10 can share a bedroom with another child or with an adolescent of the same sex 

aged 10 to 20, but babies are not expected to be able to share bedrooms with parents.  Maybe in practice 

there is some flexibility on this - I do not know - or some parents might not -- 

 

Page 60



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I thought, if they were under one, they were uncounted, so to speak, but I might have 

had that wrong. 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  I can check 

that out. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We can follow up with some questions at the end.  You were going to go through 

four different measures.  Is the bedroom standard the third one?  Is there another one to come? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  The bedroom 

standard is the third one, yes.  There is one to go.  The last one is called the occupancy rating.  The Office of 

National Statistics developed that for use in the Census because there is a final detail on the bedroom standard 

that I did not mention, which is that any bedroom with a floor area of less than 50 square feet - quite small - is 

discounted and is not included in the count of bedrooms.  The Census has never collected any information on 

the size of rooms and so you cannot use the bedroom standard on Census data.  What the Office for National 

Statistics did was to come up with its own formula, which is quite similar to the bedroom standard but does not 

have this extra clause.  It gives you a different number of overcrowded households.  Again, it is available only 

every 10 years.  That is it. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Great.  Can I ask your opinion, then?  On all that different data, you have outlined 

what is collected when.  How useful is it and can you tell us a little bit more about the English Housing Survey 

and how that is used?  I believe that is what the Mayor has been using. 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  Yes, that is 

what we mainly use to measure overcrowding, especially when we are between Censuses, as we are now.  I 

would say the bedroom standard is particularly useful, mainly because it can be measured from the English 

Housing Survey, which collects a lot of other details about households and the homes they live in.  For 

example, we can compare overcrowding rates for households of different sizes.  Unsurprisingly, they are higher 

for larger households.  We can compare overcrowding rates by ethnicity.  We know that, for example, black, 

Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) households tend to have higher overcrowding rates in London.  We can look 

at the relationship between overcrowding and income and, again, there is a very strong relationship. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  What is the sample size for the English Housing Survey for London in that much 

detail? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  It is in the 

region of 2,000 households a year. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Within that, you can tell us age, ethnicity and tenure?  I have seen an age and 

tenure split, actually, at one point. 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  Yes.  It 

becomes less reliable as you dig down.  What we do is we combine the most recent three years of data and so 

that effectively gives you a sample of 6,000. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Yes.  Assembly Member Boff, you have some more questions? 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, please.  The most recent English Housing Survey data actually shows 

a decline in overcrowding in the rented sectors.  Does this reflect, first of all, your understanding of the data, 

Page 61



 

 

Mr Gleeson, and then, for our guests, whether or not that is your experience?  Mr Gleeson, does that reflect 

the statistics that you are seeing? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  We have seen a 

little bit of a decline from the peaks in overcrowding that we were seeing in 2010/11.  It is not a very big 

decline and we are still higher in terms of the overall overcrowding rate in social housing and in private renting 

than, say, 20 years ago.  In 1995/96, 10% of social renting households in London were overcrowded, 

according to the bedroom standard, and now it is about 13%.  There has been a really significant increase in 

overcrowding in the private rented sector (PRS) from about 6% to about 11% over that same period.  Even 

though we have seen a bit of a decrease in the last couple of years - and I would stress that that is at the 

London-wide level and so there have probably been increases and decreases in different parts of London - we 

are still higher than we were 20 years ago. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Does the net increase in private rented accommodation go down to the 

fact that there is more dependency upon private rented accommodation, or are we to see it actually worsening 

in private rented accommodation?’ 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  It is actually 

worsening in the PRS.  It has gone up as a percentage of the total PRS, even though the sector as a whole has 

been growing. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I ask the other guests if it is your experience that there may have 

been a gentle decline or a slight decline since 2011?  Is that the case, Mr Lumley? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  It is very hard to say with any 

degree of certainty for a similar reason we have just touched upon, which is the difficulty of establishing a 

reliable dataset. 

 

The other big point to bear in mind is that none of those datasets will give you an indication of the level of 

hidden homelessness that is in place, the amount of informal sharing, the amount of reliance on ad hoc 

arrangements that are not tracked in that formal way.  In our anecdotal experience, it is increasing, and so that 

would paint a very different picture. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  As a Committee, we are quite recently familiar with the hidden 

homelessness subject.  We have just published a report on that.  Ms Amafor, do you see a decline? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  No, I do not 

see a decline.  One of my main duties is to carry out inspections in the PRS with regard to the licence 

conditions.  From my experience over the past five years, there has not been a decrease and it keeps 

increasing.  Now we are finding 15 to 20 tenants residing in a three-bedroom property.  With the introduction 

of licensing, we are able to target these properties and take enforcement action to ensure that landlords 

comply with their licence conditions and do not allow their properties to be overcrowded. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You would say that you are seeing an increase in overcrowding? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Ms Onyechi, what about you at Peabody? 

 

Page 62



 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  For Peabody, I cannot say that there has 

been a decline.  Yes, I would not say there has been a decline.  What I would say is that, for those who are 

overcrowded, there is not a willingness to move even where stock has been identified.  It is very difficult to 

actually find where to move them to because the homes that are being built are not -- we do not have a lot of 

three-beds or four-beds or five-beds. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Exactly. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Therefore, there has not been a decline.  

For some people, they are on the waiting list, they are made offers and they are taken off and -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I am not going to put words in your mouth but, just to clarify what you 

said, you are saying that the three and four-beds are not being built.  Is that correct?  I do not want to -- 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Because I manage lettings and rehousing 

and I have the opportunity to see new developments that have come in, with all the new developments that 

are coming in there seems to be a higher proportion of one and two-bedrooms as opposed to three and four in 

the pipeline.  For me, I then wonder, if you house the one and two-beds now, five or seven years down the line 

their household makeup will increase.  Where are you going to move them to?  That is just a personal 

observation, looking at what it is that we manage and the stock that we have. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you for that.  Mr Beach, is your experience similar? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

The other angle on this is houses let out for multiple occupation (HMOs).  It is not really touched upon here, 

but that really is putting a squeeze on three, four and five-bedroom properties because that leads to 

overcrowding as well, lots of problems with things like rent-to-rent scams, subletting and that kind of thing.   

 

The standards we have talked about that James mentioned are mostly spatial standards, but there is also an 

issue in terms of overcrowding and in terms of amenities there, with 10 to 15 people in a property with just 

one kitchen, one bathroom and that kind of thing.  Although Waltham Forest - as with Newham - has quite 

restrictive policies in terms of HMO accommodation, we are finding that the problems of illegal HMOs are 

pretty epidemic, really. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I was about to say that it is a legal requirement for HMOs to register 

anyway - is that correct - all throughout London? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

Yes, and have the necessary planning permission as well. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Your experience is that, as much as there may be a decline, it has not 

been a massive one and some people are experiencing an increase.  How do you measure overcrowding to 

inform your local policies with regard to that?   

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

Again, James touched upon it.  It is quite difficult.  Even with the bedroom standard, for example, although 

the standard talks about sharing and so on, unlike the very outdated Part 10 [of the Housing Act 1985] 

overcrowding standard, there are no standards stipulated in the bedroom standard in terms of what a double 

bedroom looks like or what a single bedroom looks like, for example.  Again, there is a further disconnection.  

Page 63



 

 

Our main enforcement tool in terms of overcrowding at the moment is probably our Part 1 [of the Housing Act 

2004] Housing Health and Safety Rating System powers and, again, there is different guidance on what we 

should do there, really.  It is something we do come across in terms of the inspection.  We do not have any 

definite figures on it, but I would agree with my colleague from Newham that there is certainly no evidence of 

it being a small problem.  It is a big problem, really. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  For example, when Peabody comes to talk about future builds and stuff, 

how do you measure the demand for larger properties to cope with overcrowding?  How do you measure that? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  In terms of measuring for our residents, 

we use the bedroom standard, but when you talk about for future deals, for most new builds, 100% goes back 

to the local authority anyway.  Any overcrowding within my current residences is not actually regarded.  It is 

not important in terms of the development and the builds that are happening.  When you are a Peabody 

tenant in your house and you become overcrowded, what we use is the bedroom standard.  Our data shows 

that, when you think of our general need stock, which is about 41,000, we have about 6.7% of our homes 

overcrowded.  We have key boroughs that have high levels of overcrowding and they are mostly the central 

boroughs. 

 

Going back to your question, in terms of councils and building, it does not really matter, our internal data, 

because allocations will come from the borough and 100% of all the homes will be given back to the councils 

to house people off their lists. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is interesting.  I will come back to that on a later question. I find 

that allocation policy quite interesting.  Ms Amafor, if Newham councillors came to you and said, “How 

overcrowded are we”, how do you measure that and present that case? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  I am aware 

that they use what they call the Index of Multiple Deprivation and the system to measure that, but I am not 

fully aware about the details of this and so we will write you about more details.  We also get other information 

from the data we collect from licensing.  Through our licensing visits, we also make a note of how many are in 

the properties we have visited and found to be overcrowded.  For future purposes, for our new licensing 

scheme, we intend to inspect all the properties that we are licensing and, in future, that will give us stronger 

data about what proportion of our properties in Newham in the PRS are overcrowded. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That gives you a view of private rented accommodation.  What about in 

the housing stock itself in Newham? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  I believe for 

the housing stock they probably use this Index of Multiple Deprivation, but we can write to you about that.  I 

do not have that information on hand. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is fine.  Thank you very much.  Mr Lumley, in terms of Hackney, 

what kind of measure do you use? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  There are three parts to it.  The 

first is using the Census data as a baseline.  We then supplement that with our own localised housing need 

surveys, carried out every few years.  Then the third element is very similar to the point just made, which is that 

we have commissioned a comprehensive stock-modelling exercise to underpin or to provide the evidence base 

for the proposed introduction of discretionary licensing schemes. 

Page 64



 

 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you think a London-wide method of data collection would be useful 

in getting a clearer picture in the capital as a whole? 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  It is difficult to 

say because of the expense of carrying out this kind of survey.  Mr Lumley mentioned the surveys that 

Hackney does.  I do not know how costly that is, but, from my experience, for a single borough to carry out a 

survey with a big enough sample in their area to give reliable results is quite a significant expense.  Although it 

would be great to have that kind of data, it is difficult to say that it is the right way to spend that much money 

at this moment. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Can I ask?  Does the expense scale -- is most of the expense organising it, planning 

it and hiring the people to do it, or is it because there are quite intensive data collection methods involved and, 

if you do more of it, it just costs more?  I am trying to work out if there are economies of scale here, basically. 

 

James Gleeson (Senior Policy Officer, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority):  There is a little 

bit of economies of scale.  If it was a consistent questionnaire and if there was a consistent sampling method, 

then you would get some economies of scale.  The sample that you need to give significant results at the 

London-wide level for each borough would be very large.  I am not going to try to estimate it. 

 

Really, the expense is in carrying out the surveys.  It is in paying people to go and survey households in their 

homes to the requisite level of detail.  You need professional surveyors.  It is not particularly fast.  Response 

rates to surveys in London are not super-high.  You need to go back to some addresses multiple times before 

you get a response.  It is just inherently very expensive work. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Is that the methods you use in Hackney? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Just in relation to the question 

in terms of whether an accurate picture would be helpful, there is probably a yes and a no answer. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Great! 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, a more accurate, more 

detailed and more up-to-date evidence base is helpful, particularly if you believe in evidence-based 

policymaking.  Also, no, because to a certain extent we can probably tell you what that survey will say, and 

that survey will say that there are lots of people who are overcrowded.  That will not necessarily help.  What 

will help is focusing on what the solutions might be to address that problem of overcrowding.  We can spend a 

lot of time getting into the nitty-gritty of exactly how many people are overcrowded and in what particular 

circumstances, but, if the objective is to try to address that problem and to reduce levels of overcrowding, what 

we need to do is to build more homes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I was about to say that you are preaching to the choir. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, we appreciate that. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We also want to scrutinise the data. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I can understand that there might be some drawbacks with trying to 

struggle to get a common standard, but there is no serious measure that says we are not overcrowded, is 

Page 65



 

 

there?  There is no serious measure out there or serious opinion saying that, actually, we do not have an 

overcrowding problem?  There is nothing there, no detractors from that?  Everybody agrees that, faulty 

though the evidence may be, there certainly is not any evidence to suggest that there is not a massive 

overcrowding problem.  Is that fair to say?  OK. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  My one question is: do any of you have a sense of where most of the overcrowding 

lies?  Is it families squashing into studios, one-beds and smaller homes being squeezed at that end, or is it 

more that bigger homes are filling up with maybe multiple families?  Does that make sense?  Do any of you 

have a sense of which side of things is the worst? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  It is 

probably both but larger houses being used for multiple households is a significant problem.  If a landlord 

knows they can get an extra £1,000 or £1,500 a month by listing it out as multiple units, they are going to go 

down that route. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course, that area is under the control of the local authorities’ planning 

policies? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  It 

is.  It is just that the planning processes are so slow -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Exactly.  In a perfect world -- 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  -- 

and the thing is so fast moving, just trying to keep up and obviously it is very resource-intensive enforcement-

wise as well. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  What about in social housing? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  It is totally 

different because it is the smaller homes and through natural growth and that is how overcrowding occurs.  For 

my one-beds and two-beds, not as much as three-beds, they are now overcrowded by two bedrooms and over 

and they need bigger homes.  It is the smaller homes.  They are growing and there is nowhere to go to, really. 

 

As my colleagues have said, it is the bigger homes that are being used as HMOs that are more overcrowded.  It 

is not just the renting of rooms.  It is also the renting of bed spaces.  We have people coming in the morning 

and staying in the property during the day and other people coming in at night.  We have that.  That is what is 

going on.  We may have regulation of the HMO sector, but it is not just having the licensing scheme to 

regulate, we need to go out there and see the properties and what is actually going on to be able to determine 

how to deal with it. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair): And Hackney? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Social rented homes remain the 

area where there is most overcrowding, but we are seeing a general shift over time towards increased levels of 

overcrowding in the PRS.  That is just because demand is increasing so rapidly.  The sector doubled in size over 

the last 10 years. 

Page 66



 

 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is your Hackney experience? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  That is the Hackney 

experience. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  In other areas, private is more than social.  It is interesting that there is 

that difference. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, and within the social 

rented sector, overcrowding disproportionately affects three main groups.  It is families with dependent 

children, lone parents and also residents from BAME backgrounds. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I just wanted to ask and I do not know who should answer this.  In the London Plan, the 

interpretation of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) anyway, seems to be that we need more 

one-bed and two-bed flats and that we are going to lose -- well, it is not only family housing that is going to 

be lost or less family housing being built in the social rented sector, but also the presumption in favour of small 

sites allows the larger homes to be divided up.  It is predicated to a certain extent on multiple households 

sharing larger family houses being able to go into separate one and two-bed flats.  I just wonder whether 

people have a view on that.  Do you think those families that are sharing or households that are sharing in 

larger properties would, if the supply was available -- it is one and two-bed supply, mainly one-bed.  Do you 

think they would move out and form smaller households in one-bed flats or two-bed flats? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  It comes back to affordability, I 

would have thought. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  It depends on the costs.  It is based on 

affordability. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, the interrelationship 

between the current welfare reforms and housing affordability.  The extent to which residents are incentivised 

to downsize to different properties would depend, on a case-by-case basis, how that affects their individual 

finances in relation to the benefit cap and their ability to claim the Housing Benefit element of Universal Credit 

and so on.  It is quite a complex calculation.  Again, a potentially helpful answer of “possibly”, but it will 

depend on a case-by-case basis. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  From someone who deals with this on a 

day-to-day basis, the way to look at it is, if a home is overcrowded, even if it is a large home, when you are 

building one and two-bedroom homes for people, then you are presupposing that the adult members -- you 

would have to be an adult member to be able to go to a one-bed home and you have to be able to afford it.  If 

you think of the fact that you could have, say, a couple with five children in a two-bed home, you are going to 

have to wait till the oldest child is about 21 or 25, can afford a home, can rent that home, and these are the 

homes you are building for those people.  To my mind, it is not logical to say that you are building those 

homes so that these family members who are overcrowded now can move into those one and two-bed homes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Sorry, building the one and two-bed homes, do you mean? 

 

Page 67



 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes, the one and two-bed homes they 

are building for the families that are currently overcrowded because most overcrowding for the social housing 

sector is from children.  It is from natural growth.  If you think about it, if I had three children and they were 7, 

9 and 11, I would have to wait how many years for one of them to get a job and then move into one of these 

one and two-bed homes that we are hoping will ease overcrowding. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Sorry.  Is there another issue as well?  Let us say that that happens and that 21-year-old 

moves into a one-bed flat.  Then they have children and suddenly they are overcrowded. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Overcrowded, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Where do they move to? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Exactly. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I just ask one thing?  Can I ask Peabody?  In those one-bed flats you are talking 

about, you said that there are not the bigger flats for people to move into or the houses, and you say there 

seems to be a preponderance of one and two-beds being built.  Who are the client group for the one-beds? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  That is a question that will probably be 

best answered by the local authorities because, like I said, 100% of the homes that are new builds, unless there 

is a local lettings plan, will go back to the boroughs.  The housing need, as far as we understand it, is 

determined by the borough’s housing needs and demand.  A local authority should tell you and say, “We need 

a preponderance of one and two-beds because our transfer lists say that only one or two-bed people need to 

be housed”.  It is led from the local council and they are the ones that will give you people to accommodate 

those homes that have been built. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I ask the question because we were told at a previous meeting by London & Quadrant 

that the client group for a one-bed flat was a single parent with a child. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  I see.  That is where registered providers 

are probably different.   If we are looking at bedroom standards, a one-bed flat for Peabody would not go to a 

single parent.  We would be looking for a two-bed home for a single parent like a lady with a child.  We would 

not give you a one-bed because you are already starting to overcrowd with the first signing of the tenancy. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Thank you. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  This goes on to our next section. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes.  Talking about the way in which we are tackling overcrowding, it is a 

bit out of sorts but I will come back to you, if I can, Ms Onyechi, because of what you said about how 100% of 

your allocation going to the local authority.  This Committee back in [March] 2011 did a report about 

overcrowding [Crowded Houses].  One of its recommendations is that social housing providers should be able 

first to sort out their internal mismatches before they then offer the void property to the local authority or to 

the housing waiting list.  That sounds like you do not do that and that it goes straight to the borough.  Is that 

correct? 

 

Page 68



 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  For new properties, where a new 

development has been built, a new Peabody development in a local authority, say in Westminster, 100% of all 

those homes will be offered to the local authority. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Not 100% of all voids? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  No. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  If you do get a void? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  If we do get a void, depending on how 

the void was created, a percentage would go to the local authority and a percentage would be kept by us to 

administer our local waiting lists. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  All right, yes.  Perhaps I should ask.  Does overcrowding have a priority 

within your allocations policy? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Right now, overcrowding is the fourth 

highest in priority on our allocation list, but, to put that in a bit of context, we have nine bands and 

overcrowded is band 4.  We have 270 households in bands above overcrowding, and these are people that 

have presented themselves as overcrowded. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  There are 270 people above overcrowded? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Above the overcrowding band. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Vulnerable adults? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  It would be your management transfers 

and your medical priority ones and your decants when we have to move you due to statutory work or 

something.  Those are the three bands above overcrowding. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  There are 270 people in those categories at the moment? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes, above. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You do not have 270 vacant properties, have you? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  No, we do not. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Mr Beach, could I ask whether or not you do allocate a priority in 

Waltham Forest with regard to overcrowding? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  I 

do not really deal with the housing side of things and so -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is fine. Environmental health will go to you. 

 

Page 69



 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  Yes, I do not 

deal with-- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Mr Lumley, do you allocate priority to overcrowding? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, we do. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  We have heard that it is quite high, actually.  Number 4 is high when you 

look at what is above it.  How high is that priority compared to others? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  It is a points-based system and 

so it depends on the other aspects of the household and whether or not they qualify under any of the other 

criteria that we have in our allocations and lettings policy. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  When you get a vacancy or a void, do you do an exercise of seeing who, 

of your existing tenants, would best fit that void or do you go straight to the housing waiting list to allocate? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  We do two things.  The first is 

that we do run a scheme prioritising or incentivising those who wish to downsize.  If there is nobody suitable 

that qualifies under that scheme, then we would, under our choice-based lettings policy, allocate the scheme 

to whomever is the highest priority. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Off the waiting list? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That waiting list would include people who are currently housed by you 

and so the waiting list can be your tenants? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  That is right. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Has the priority changed in recent years or has it remained quite the 

same? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  I am not aware of any 

significant or notable shifts in the last couple of years. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  This is an interesting question.  It may offend some people.  I do not 

mean to.  Do some people choose to be overcrowded and, if so, why?  Anyone?  Any takers? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  There are circumstances where 

households that are overcrowded choose not to move to an alternative property.  That is partly for the reasons 

that we touched upon earlier in terms of how that would affect their personal financial circumstances because 

of the way in which the alternative accommodation would interact with recent welfare reforms. 

 

A couple of other factors to consider are also the potential risk that their tenancy conditions may be altered as 

a result.  Although we have not had the statutory instrument laying regulations for fixed-term tenancies under 

the Housing and Planning Act [2016], there is a nervousness amongst residents in the social sector that that 

might be introduced and, by moving from existing property to an alternative property that might be more 

Page 70



 

 

suitable for their needs in terms of the number of bedrooms available, they may have to accept a fixed-term 

tenancy which is less favourable. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I see.  Yes, a fixed-term tenancy. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  The third element, which is 

much more difficult to evidence, is the emotional attachment that residents have to their homes.  We made the 

point earlier on about evidence-based policymaking, which is very important, but, ultimately, we should not 

also underestimate the extent to which residents have an emotional attachment to their homes and that might 

influence their decision-making in terms of whether or not they choose to accept the offer of an alternative 

property. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  It is interesting that an emotional attachment to a home could override 

what most people realise can be a very damaging environment for children to be brought up in. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  It applies more often in cases 

of those who are under-occupying in terms of offers of alternative accommodation.  Even where there are 

financial incentives attached, that can override that offer.  There are cases where it plays out in terms of 

overcrowding as well. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I am sorry, yes.  I misunderstood.  You are saying that that is 

predominantly for people who are under-occupying and not moving, but they are not choosing to be 

overcrowded? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  No. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  They are choosing to be undercrowded.  Ms Onyechi, has your policy 

changed recently with regard to overcrowding or has it remained the same? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  With regard to overcrowding, that is why 

people felt we should -- it is the fourth-highest band, really, that you can get.  In reference to your question, I 

do not think people choose to be overcrowded but, when we try to move people, what we find is that 

affordability is such a big issue for people.  You would be surprised.  The rent values are not that different from 

a two-bed to a three-bed, if you think about it, but £10 a week every week, then the council tax bands if you 

are moving them out of the borough, then the transportation to schools for their kids.  It is very little 

incremental things and, when they add up, they are like, “You know what?  Maybe we should wait”. 

 

Again, for those who have grown-up children, sadly, there is that concept that when my adult son or daughter 

wants to move out, they are probably not even going to get priority with the local council.  If they are able to 

get a home because they are overcrowded -- because most of us now have schemes where, to relieve the 

overcrowding, your adult child would be offered a home within our stock just so that we can relieve your 

overcrowding.  You do have one or two people saying, “My child is 16.  If I wait two or three years, they will 

qualify for this scheme and will be housed and will not have to go via the local authority”.  It is not a general 

opinion, but you also have a bit of that. 

 

Then local support and the networks are such an integral part to people.  Most of the time, the homes that are 

probably affordable are not necessarily within their local boroughs.  It is like, “We will just stay where we are 

and just keep managing”. 

 

Page 71



 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Of course, the arguments are that, certainly in inner London, that is 

where you are building the one and two-bedroom flats, I suppose.  Nicky, did you want to come in? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Could I just ask, just following up from what you just said?  If there was a family with this 

16-year-old, when the 16-year-old was whatever age - I did not know, 19 or 20 - would you then offer them a 

single one-bed flat on the same estate? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Not on the same estate.  I could not 

guarantee that, but, as part of our priority bands, we do have a scheme where to relieve overcrowding we will 

offer your adult child a home. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Whereas you were saying earlier that you are concerned by the one and two-beds 

because it means you cannot transfer overcrowded families into three or four-bed flats, but you can alleviate 

some overcrowding by -- 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes, but that is within our voids, not 

within our new builds.  I was talking about new developments. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I see.  It has to be voids? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes.  If you are building new homes, we 

do need one and two-beds, but let us not ignore the fact that the larger-sized homes are also required.  I am 

just saying that there has been, it appears, a slight decline to the number of larger-sized units that are coming 

through in the pipeline. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  We sort of know why, I think. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Ms Amafor, have you encountered people who choose to be 

overcrowded or is there anything -- 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  No.  The 

people I encounter do not choose to be overcrowded.  They just find themselves in that situation where there 

are rising accommodation costs which are not keeping up with the amount of earnings the family brings in 

each week.  I have come across families and couples with two or three children residing in one room in a house, 

basically because they cannot afford even a one-bed flat for them to properly be able to live comfortably.  

They find themselves in shared accommodation.  There are also tenants who do not have recourse to public 

funds and so they cannot, again, seek assistance from the local authority to help them with any conducive 

accommodation. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Mr Beach, have you encountered people who -- 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest): In 

terms of people deliberately overcrowding themselves, but they probably would not recognise it themselves, if 

I could put it that way.  Again, it comes down to the economics and the affordability and multiple families 

sharing the same property just to be able to afford the accommodation.  That is something that has changed in 

the PRS in the last 10 or 15 years.  Whereas before it was pretty much single people saving up before they 

could afford accommodation, now there are very regularly families trapped in accommodation.  I recently 

inspected a property with a family of six occupying one room, for example.  That is just the housing crisis 

where we are, really. 

Page 72



 

 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  It is a bit like saying, “I choose not to live in Chelsea”.  It is hardly a 

choice!  Thank you very much. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I choose not to live in Chelsea as well, but I have lived in South Chelsea. 

 

I was really interested in what you were saying, John - that you think that when the regulations are laid, the 

fixed-term tenancies might actually act as a disincentive to people to move - because I thought one of the 

reasons for introducing the fixed-term tenancies was possibly to try to assist with solving the problem of 

overcrowding because a family would be in a particular location for only two years and might then move 

somewhere to a more appropriately sized house. 

 

Do you not think that fixed-term tenancies would assist with dealing with overcrowding?   

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  I understand the logic of  

fixed-term tenancies, increasing the churn rate and, therefore, generating additional voids and so on.  

However, there is, firstly, a question about whether it would or not would be applied retrospectively and then, 

secondly, there is that point about it acting as a disincentive to the individual tenant, detached from that  

high-level objective that means that tenants are not going to choose to move from a home where they have a 

lifetime tenancy paying a fixed level of rent to an alternative tenancy where it may also involve changing the 

rent levels from target rents to affordable rents, for example.  Actually, the implementation of a policy which 

has a logic to it becomes very difficult in reality or could become very difficult in reality. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I can see some nodding.  A similar scheme, which was touted as this when it was being 

introduced, was the bedroom tax or under-occupation charge or whatever you might wish to call it.  Has that 

had an impact on solving overcrowding?  Have lots of people said, “I am not getting that Housing Benefit for 

that extra bedroom.  I must move from here immediately”, in Hackney, for example? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  No, we have not seen any real 

evidence that that has been -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No exodus? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  -- the motivator for people to 

move, no. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Basically, they have just taken the hit on their finances? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, or they have fallen into 

arrears. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Or the council has taken the hit on its finances? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Is that the same in Waltham Forest?  Also, I do not know whether you want to comment 

from the Peabody perspective on this? 

 

Page 73



 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  We moved about 168 people when it was 

introduced and today we moved 168 households. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Is that 168,000 or just 168? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  I wish.  No, 168 households. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  You are not that big a landlord. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes, that would have been -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  It has been in since 2013. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes, that is not long.  What we found in 

Peabody was that most tenants were quite happy to take the hit where they could.  Again, for the homes that 

were freed up, we still go back to the allocations and you need to consider the boroughs and their housing 

lists.  It does not necessarily always go to your own tenants who are overcrowded.  It goes to the local 

authority. 

 

Going back to something that Assembly Member Boff asked, Peabody operates in over 24 London boroughs 

and, while everyone has points for overcrowding, from my experience, it is only Kensington and Chelsea (K&C), 

Haringey and Camden, I believe, that prioritise overcrowding as part of their allocation.  That is what I have 

seen.  What we have coming in in terms of our nominations are mostly statutory homeless.  If you think about 

it, even those who are classed as overcrowded on the council list, are they actually being prioritised for homes?  

I do not get the sense that they always are at the top of the list. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is fascinating.  So that I am clear in my mind, parts of those three 

boroughs, the other ones you are talking to -- 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  As far as I am aware -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You do not get the feeling that they are prioritising? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  I do not get the feeling that 

overcrowding is -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I am sure Mr Lumley is going to say something -- 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Are these boroughs that have recently changed their allocations policy?  I know that 

Camden has changed it to do exactly that. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes, and Haringey did and K&C.  Was it 

last year or some time ago? 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  As more councils change their allocations policies, they might bring in -- 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  They might, yes.  I know that there are 

points for overcrowding, but an overcrowded household would not almost automatically get a home over 

Page 74



 

 

statutory homeless, which is understandable, but then you still have all of those people there with nowhere 

really to go to. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Would you agree that the under-occupation issue is probably more severe with people 

who are not impacted by the bedroom tax, in the sense that people who are pensioners are more likely perhaps 

to have suffered a bereavement and be living alone as a widow or widower under-occupying, potentially, a 

house or a flat that could be very suitable for another overcrowded family?  Do you think there should be more 

done?  Notwithstanding the very deep emotional attachment because people might have lived there for many 

years, what more could we do to persuade people who are perhaps under-occupying by two or even three 

bedrooms to move, freeing up that accommodation, which would then be available for families that are deeply 

overcrowded? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  It is like John said.  That emotional 

attachment is really strong and so there are lots of incentives and they do find it really hard to move.  The 

point is, because most of the demographics in this group have the real secure and assured tenancies, they do 

not have the fixed-term tenancies and so you could not even, with churn, move them. 

 

The only thing that I would say, having worked my way up through housing, is that if maybe there was some 

sort of an incentive that was linked to maybe their children and getting homes for their kids, that would 

probably soon enough get them to give up their home.  That could be something to look at.  If you say, “Give 

up this six-bed home and I will house your son or I will pay the stamp duty or the deposit for your son”, 

something like that might help. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Do you think so from the Hackney perspective? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes.  I would also add that 

financial -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I will just make clear that I am just here talking about that demographic because Tom is 

right.  He wants to ask you about incentives for other people as well.  He was kicking me. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Absolutely.  This might answer 

both parts of the question.  It relates to financial incentives.  We do run a scheme offering financial incentives 

for those who are under-occupying and they are very modest.  There are two reasons why they are modest.  

First, that is just the nature of local authority budgets.  Secondly, there is a political consideration to offering 

households cash to move home, particularly when they are moving perhaps to a more suitable or what some 

might describe as a nicer home. 

 

Actually, the reality of it is, if you set that against the cost of the provision or the need to provide temporary 

accommodation, it becomes a bit of a no-brainer.  On average, placing a household in temporary 

accommodation in Hackney costs the authority - as opposed to placing them in a secure tenancy in a council 

property or a tenancy in a housing association property - an extra £10,000 to £15,000 a year.  If we were able 

to offer more generous incentives, that equation would balance much more quickly, but that is not something 

that we are currently able or comfortable doing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I believe that was the underlying ethos of the cash incentive and the tenant incentive 

schemes when they originally operated, but Tom has told me I am not allowed to ask about those because he is 

going to talk about that in a minute. 

 

Page 75



 

 

I do want to talk to Amanda and David [Beach], though, about the PRS.  We know - and you have spoken 

about it eloquently - particularly in Newham; a fantastic scheme, by the way, licensing in Newham.  How can 

that help deal with overcrowding?  Should some kind of licensing scheme like that be the same across the 

whole of London, the Newham type of scheme? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  The licensing 

scheme has been able through the licence conditions for authorities, to set maximum limits on a property on 

the number of people that should be in there and the number of households that should be in there.  Where 

that is not happening, then a breach of the licence conditions has occurred.  Where we have witnessed this, we 

have taken enforcement action. 

 

The landlord or the licence holder also has a duty to inspect their property every six months to find out what is 

going on.  Things that happen which they might not know about are probably subletting going on within the 

property, which would result in overcrowding.  In this kind of situation, if the licence holder is inspecting their 

property, they should be able to be aware about what is going on and deal with it.  They have various ways 

they could deal with it.  They could ensure that subletting is not going on or serve a Section 21 [of the 

Housing Act 1988] notice on the tenant or take action to ensure that overcrowding does not take place.  That 

is the licensing bit, but we also carry out unannounced visits to these properties where we suspect that. It is of 

our credit to actually visit a witness and take enforcement action on the licence holder to deal with it. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  David, is that the same that you have found in Waltham Forest, that your licensing and 

regulation scheme in the PRS has been able to impact on overcrowding and to either keep it at bay or reduce 

it? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  No, 

we are one of the few boroughs that have borough-wide licensing following in Newham’s footsteps a couple of 

years behind.  It has been -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Helpful? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  -- 

transformative in terms of having the resources, the insight and the intelligence to regulate conditions in the 

PRS, really.  Since we brought the scheme in, the political landscape has changed a bit.  It is much tougher now 

to get the re-designation in, but I know that the Mayor has been quite keen on having the power delegated 

down possibly to the GLA in London to re-designate.  We are quite concerned about further barriers being put 

in the way in terms of being able to re-designate.  We have the extra ‘rogue landlord’ powers that have come 

in in the Housing and Planning Act [2016].  We feel we are in a significantly better position to enforce those 

with the extra powers available through licensing to those boroughs that do not have those powers available. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Do you think there are measures beyond licensing and beyond the rogue element that 

would be useful in terms of tackling overcrowding in the PRS?  I am offering you your opportunity to have 

three wishes, if you like. 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

The main legislation that we have to enforce is the Housing Act 2004 and I do not think it would win many 

prizes for being the best piece of legislation ever enacted, really.  Part 1, our main enforcement powers, are not 

great.  Even licensing is quite a confused picture with myriad different schemes, complications in terms of 

HMO definitions and that kind of thing.  Part 4 powers in terms of interim management orders are pretty 

toothless, really.  There is a general need to look at what tools are available under the Housing and Planning 

Page 76



 

 

Act.  There are some good things in there.  Along with Newham, we were one of the first two boroughs to 

adopt the new civil penalty powers and we are using them extensively already, but, again, the proof of the 

pudding with that will be -- there will be a lot of appeals on that going through the Residential Property 

Tribunal for that.  Again, will that be an effective power?  We will see. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Could you outline what that action is again?  The civil penalty powers are 

what? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  We 

now have the power under the Housing and Planning Act for certain offences and one of those includes breach 

of an overcrowding notice, for example, or breach of licence conditions.  We can issue a civil penalty of up to 

£30,000 as an alternative to a criminal prosecution. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Excellent.  They are still ongoing, are they?  They are still ongoing, those 

appeals and everything like that? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  We 

have just had our first two appeals in the Tribunal this week and so we have five or six weeks to wait for the 

decision.  Newham had the first appeal through and Newham -- 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  We have had a 

number of appeals and a recent one we had was for poor management of shared accommodation.  We had 

about £22,500 in financial penalty. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Without taking up too much time, could you let us know how they have 

gone, if you could write to us and let us know? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  OK. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  It would be interesting to know because one of the criticisms we often 

hear is that local authorities do not really have the powers to act in many of these cases.  It would be great to 

hear how they can.  Thank you. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  In your case, it is because you have the licensing schemes in place and you are able to 

act.  My understanding is that if you did not have the licensing schemes in place, you would not be able to act 

because you could not enforce for breach of licence if there is no licensing scheme. 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  Yes. 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

Exactly.  There are still some things you can issue civil penalties for, but the range of things you can deal with 

under licensing is much bigger.  For the one we were in on Monday, we were defending £45,000 worth of civil 

penalties we imposed on landlords for, for example, failing to provide smoke detectors in the property.  They 

declared on the licence application there were smoke detectors there, and so it was just basic safety measures, 

really. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Very basic safety measures.  I am also a member of the London Fire [and Emergency 

Planning] Authority and we would be looking to see you carrying on with that kind of enforcement.  Is there 

Page 77



 

 

anything, Amanda, that you would like to add to what David was saying?  What are your three wishes, unless 

they are the same? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  Yes.  Licensing 

gives us the ability to actually know what is happening down there in the community and what type of setup 

and then, due to intelligence, we also -- we do not work solely alone.  We also work with the police, the 

immigration department and council tax, and so we always have multiagency working.  We always do that and 

we are able to gather intelligence.  Even if we are not going to a particular property, if the police are going, 

they inform us of what is going on in that property.  If the immigration officers have been to that property, 

they automatically tell us what they have seen.  We are always gathering intelligence and being made aware 

about what is going on.  Without licensing, I would find it difficult to know how local authority would be able 

to know what is going on in their area. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I do not know whether you wanted to come in on that as well.  Thank you very much, 

Amanda.  That is really useful what you and David [Beach] have been saying. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  It is useful to be aware of what 

might potentially happen next.  Hackney is proposing to introduce both additional licensing for HMOs and 

selective licensing on a pilot basis to three wards later this year.  That goes to Cabinet on Monday  

[19 March 2018].  We are big supporters of licensing and we want to see all the benefits that colleagues have 

just touched upon it brought about. 

 

However, the potential downside is twofold, generally speaking.  The first is that licensing may result in some 

properties being taken out of rented stock -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  And evictions. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  -- because landlords do not 

want to remain in the sector or they do not want to sign up to a licence or it is not possible to grant a licence 

because the property is in such a state of disrepair or whatever it might be. 

 

Secondly, in relation to overcrowding specifically, it may be the case that in terms of enforcing that 

overcrowding criteria, some households will have to move out of the property or some individuals may have to 

move out of the property.  The likelihood is that they then present to a local authority as homeless and there is 

a duty for us to house them and we do not currently have anywhere to house them.  Therefore, there are some 

potential downsides that we do need to be aware of. 

 

I draw that back to the question as to what my asks would be, and they relate to the point I made earlier, 

which is about that fundamental question of supply because this is all part of a complex chain of how we try to 

address both the cause and the symptoms.  The first would be additional lobbying to raise or abolish the 

Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap and then, secondly, additional financial assistance, preferably 

through the Mayor of London’s grant programmes, to assist with the provision of more genuinely affordable 

housing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you.  Thank you, Chair. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Gavron, did you have a follow-up question? 

 

Page 78



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It has just been answered because I was wanting to know what steps were in place to help 

those people who were then evicted or made homeless as a result of licensing because of overcrowding, where 

are they to go?  What happens to them?  I do not know if anyone else wants to add anything to that? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  I 

do not disagree with other Panel members on this, but certainly when Newham’s licensing scheme came in I 

know that there were lots of concerns expressed about how it would reduce the supply of PRS in the borough.  

There is no evidence that that occurred and actually the level of PRS increased in Newham over the life of the 

scheme.  I am not aware really of any massive displacement, certainly in Waltham Forest.  It is not my area, but 

our current figure is that 53% of our homeless acceptances are just at the end of agreed short-term tenancies.  

That is the main cause of new acceptances now, but there is no suggestion that is through any overzealous 

enforcement or any additional enforcement of the licensing scheme, really. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Where there is an overcrowded property, do you have evidence of what happens to 

people who have to leave it? 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

They just find other accommodation.  They do not necessarily present themselves as being homeless to the 

local authority. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  All right, but it is very much a last resort, is it not, being in very overcrowded, unfit 

homes?  I am just wondering whether they have the wherewithal to find anywhere.  I am posing a question.  

There is a dark side to the licensing scheme.  I am just wondering how we deal with it. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  People in these overcrowded homes are not exactly undercharged for the privilege, 

either.  It may be that there are other options for them. 

 

Assembly Member Copley, we are moving on now to what the Mayor can do.  You are leading on this? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  For my first question, we could just go through each one of you, yes or no, 

really, on this one.  Should the Mayor have a target to reduce overcrowding?   

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Must I answer yes or no? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  You can give us a different form of words, if you like. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  A target is not unhelpful, but, 

equally, it should not be the top priority. 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  You should 

not set a target.  If you set a target, it may be very difficult to achieve.  I do not see how setting a target will 

help you much with that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Is that not the point about targets, though?  They should stretch you. 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  No, it depends 

on what data options he uses, but I do not see how good that will be in setting a target because overcrowding 

data is not easy data to collect.  That is from my experience. 

 

Page 79



 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Without saying yes, I think that homes 

that are built should be according to housing needs in the borough, and housing needs in the borough should 

be really data-driven.  You should be able to calculate how many of your applicants or tenants are overcrowded 

and ensure that supply within your borough meets the housing demand.  Just saying ‘build more homes’, for 

me it is good to build more homes, but you need to be clear about the people you are trying to house and 

build the homes for the people you are trying to house, not just within the council but also within every 

registered provider or every social housing tenant that has those issues.  It should be driven by demand.  I do 

not know if a target helps, but you do have overcrowding.  It might not be as high, but there is overcrowding, 

and your homes and your builds should reflect that in some way. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is an interesting one for us here because we have seen what has come back in the 

SHMA on what apparently is needed.  It says mostly one and two-beds - in fact, more than 50% of it being 

one-beds - across London.  Yet most of the boroughs that we have spoken to -- we spoke to Havering, which 

said that the need was for 80% family homes.  Tower Hamlets was saying that they wanted a majority of family 

homes.  What has come back and what the Mayor says does not seem to tally up with what is being seen 

within the boroughs and what they are reporting. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  That is what I found when I saw the 

consultation on the London [Overcrowding] Action Plan.  I tried to read it and I really could not understand it 

because, for somewhere like Haringey, when you nominate a one-bed property, it is more difficult to find 

people to fill those homes, but once a three-bed or four-bed comes up, after the first viewing it is gone. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is interesting. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  For some of the Section 106s [of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990] or the nomination agreements that have come through that I have had 

to review, I have actually had to challenge and I have said, “Can you go back to the allocations department of 

that council and find out what their demand is on their list?  If they are agreeing to this, do they understand 

that they have more overcrowded applicants or more applicants who need larger-sized homes?  Why are you 

building this?”  The sense I have is that it is almost like the data in the boroughs is not being used properly to 

drive housing and demand within the boroughs. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That was very interesting.  I am wondering whether they even ask.  When they are coming 

with the data for the London Plan, I do not know if even they ask the boroughs where the demand is in terms 

of their waiting lists when they are coming up with these figures.  I do not -- 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  The probably do.  Do you know? 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  We have asked whether there should be a target for overcrowding, which 

I suppose can be quite nebulous.  However, should there be a target for the size of homes that we are trying to 

build? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  There should be.   I would say yes to 

that.  Just like I said, it should be driven by data.  They should not just build one and two-bed homes in 

Islington when the local need shows that they need three and four-bed homes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Can I move on to you, David?  Do you think we need a target to reduce overcrowding and 

commenting on what we have been talking about in terms of a need for different types of homes? 

 

Page 80



 

 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

What Assembly Member Boff was suggesting would make sense to me.  Maybe look at an aspirational target to 

reduce overcrowding.  If that is linked up with more targeted homebuilding, the two should go hand-in-glove, 

really.  Maybe one of the measures of expanded housebuilding or new dwellings should be an overall reduction 

in the level of overcrowding. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  John, what do you think?  Do you think we need larger homes?  Do you think that we need 

a target for larger homes? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Those considerations are 

second order and so no to the first part - do we need a target - because we need more homes of every size.  If 

we take Hackney as an example, we have 13,000 people on the waiting list and 3,000 households in temporary 

accommodation.  We do not have any particular type of home that we are struggling to fill.  We cannot build 

homes of any size fast enough to reduce either of those figures.  Yes, in an ideal world, we would have a 

perfect approach to data analysis that targeted all of the new homes that were brought forward and that 

aligned and correlated with all of the demand on the waiting list, but, for the time being, we just need more 

homes.  No matter what size they are, we will be able to fill them because of the size of the demand that we 

have across the spectrum. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Is that your view, Amanda? 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  I am not so 

much versed in the social sector, but I believe we do come across properties that are overcrowded by families 

as well as single persons.  It is across the sector. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Going back to the issue of larger homes, do you think they are effectively incentivised in 

the draft London Plan and, indeed, within the Affordable Homes Funding Programme?  You have a fixed grant 

rate of £60,000 whether it is a studio flat or a five-bed.  Do you think that creates a skew towards smaller 

properties? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Do you think it would be better for the Mayor to offer perhaps a differential rate so that 

the bigger the home the bigger the grant?  Is that a general view? 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  David is that your view as well: more flexibility in terms of that? 

David Beach (Head of Selective Licensing and Regulation, London Borough of Waltham Forest):  

Yes. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can we ask?  That would affect the housing targets? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It would affect the housing targets, surely. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That would affect your housing targets in Hackney, would it not, because you would be 

building more family homes, for your one and two-bed? 

 

Page 81



 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  The general point about 

flexibility is the key one which is that we want to build more homes, and more homes of every size to meet a 

diverse range of needs.  I would not necessarily say that it would drastically reduce the overall output.  It would 

just be beneficial in terms of giving providers - not just the council but registered providers and other 

developers - the freedom they need to benefit from that fixed grant rate, which is positive in many ways in 

terms of security of future income and business planning and so on, and also being able to deliver a range of 

products across a range of different schemes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Have you done a recent local SHMA in Hackney? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What does that tell you in terms of where the need is in terms of the number of bedrooms? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  I do not have all of the data to 

hand, unfortunately, and some of it is referenced in the report that you provided in advance of today, but what 

is particularly interesting is, again, the contrast between the outputs of the SHMA and the evidence that is 

available in terms of the housing waiting list.  There is, again, something of divergence between the 

recommendations of the SHMA in terms of provision of larger homes and the proportion of households that 

require smaller properties, which are in the greatest numbers at the higher end of the priority bandings on our 

waiting list.  Again, it all goes back to one of the first things that we discussed about difficulties with datasets 

and getting consistency and so on, but it also underpins that previous point about the fact that, whichever way 

you cut it, we just need more homes of all sizes rather than getting fixated on one particular type of provision. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Although, if you were to just build all one-bedroom flats, that would cause problems, 

surely. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Sure.  I am not suggesting that, 

but fixating on one particular type in that way but coming at it from a different perspective is equally 

unhelpful. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is just more about ensuring that family-sized housing is not disincentivised for the 

reasons that we have discussed. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Sure.  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Boff just quickly? 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Just very quickly on that, one of the postulations that we had in our 

report back in 2011 was that if you build a one-bedroom house, you are possibly solving the housing needs of 

only one particular person.  If you build a five-bedroom house, you are solving the needs of multiple families as 

people readjust to different-sized homes with the churn in housing.  Is that something that you recognise and 

perhaps Ms Onyechi recognises as well: that the larger homes give you more choices and actually liberate the 

one-bedroom, two-bedroom and three-bedroom as you allocate for people’s needs? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, absolutely.  We just need 

to be aware of how that links to some of the other points we discussed earlier about how that translates into 

the reality of people moving, whether they are either over-occupying or under-occupying. 

 

Page 82



 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.  That is fine. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I wanted to move back on to downsizing, which of course Assembly Member Cooper has 

raised already.  We have discussed this a bit, but the question is how the Mayor can make downsizing more 

attractive in London.  Are there things that the Mayor can do? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  I spoke earlier about financial 

incentives and that is something that is worth investigating further and seeing whether or not there is any 

assistance that the Mayor can provide.  It need not even be direct financial assistance but assisting boroughs in 

doing the research and investigating potential options and potential policy initiatives that boroughs could 

pursue.  Doing that on a pan-London basis would be very helpful because boroughs acting in isolation -- we all 

to a certain extent face the same challenges and so co-ordinating those efforts across London would be very 

helpful. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We still have the Seaside and Country Homes programme, of course -- 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  I believe so, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  -- which we run from the GLA, but the take-up is very low -- 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  It is, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  -- and I am not sure how many properties become available outside of London for people 

to go to.  Perhaps there is something the Mayor could do to reinvigorate that scheme as well. 

 

I liked the suggestion about incentives in terms of family members being able to -- that is also a way, of 

course, which certain councils have used to get consent for development on existing estates by saying, “These 

properties will be available either for you to downsize into or for your children”, and that kind of thing. 

 

Ijay Onyechi (Head of Lettings, Residents Services, Peabody):  For Peabody, we have done the financial 

incentives and, like John said, there is an emotional attachment.  We find that no matter how much money we 

throw at people, the money is good but it is not a problem for them.  If there is some sort of gain for a family 

member, they tend to want to move easier.  We had a particular case where a lady was in a four-bed and had a 

son and she said, “The only way I would move is if you gave my son a social tenancy and I would happily move 

to a one-bed”.  That had to be signed off.  For us, we were getting a four-bed.  She said, rightly, “My son will 

not have priority if we were to approach any of the councils”.  If there was some sort of scheme that went into 

the depth of that and what they really want and just, when you think of the cost down the line, it makes better 

sense to do that than say, “I am giving you £1,500 a room”.  They do not need that.  They are happy to stay 

there. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Any more comments on downsizing and incentives to downsize?  Anything else?  Nicky, 

sorry, yes. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Just on downsizing and going back to what we were saying much earlier, the presumption 

in favour of small sites does two things.  It does many more things, but I am just taking two.  One is that there 

is the potential of some infill sites becoming available because of the presumption; and, secondly, the 

presumption in favour of conversion counting as a small site.  Also, I am just thinking of people who are -- I 

just want to put this perhaps to Hackney because you probably do have quite a lot of large family houses in 

which people have space.  We know that there are quite a lot of private -- that 40% of all the 800,000 homes 

Page 83



 

 

with two or more spare bedrooms are in the owner-occupied sector, and just whether there is some deal that 

boroughs can do, mainly with people who really would like to downsize from their owner-occupied houses but 

do not have the income to be able to do it, so to speak, because it is quite expensive with just even the moving 

and so on, but also want some incentivisation.  They would, but only if they are in their own community.  I just 

wondered whether there could not be some incentives around this or some way boroughs could put some sites 

aside for people in order to help them to downsize to free up larger family houses either for big families or for 

dividing up into smaller households.  Any ideas on that? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Is that from the  

owner-occupied sector into the social sector, if I have heard you correctly? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  No, it was not.  It was into the private sector.  Something that boroughs might be able to 

do -- 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Owner-occupiers moving to 

other private properties? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  A lot of under-occupation is in the homeownership sector. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  These are under-occupied homes and people might have the emotional attachment.  

Often, the emotional attachment is to the area in which they live and to the community, but there is nowhere 

in the community for them to move to that is there.  There is not always the supply.  They probably could 

afford it with some assistance in moving and so on, but they would be selling their main asset. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We do not have any planning officers with us today -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is an idea. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  -- but, John, you are the Director of Regeneration, which means you must be 

building some private-sector homes alongside new social homes. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  Yes, that is right. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Have you thought about the issues that Assembly Member Gavron has raised at all? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  The homes that we deliver that 

are not affordable are delivered really solely to generate the cross-subsidy required to fund social rent and 

shared ownership.  We have recently made progress towards creating a wholly-owned subsidiary housing 

company to provide homes at London Living Rent.  I am thinking about whether or not there is some 

relationship between the provision of the Living Rent product and that providing an incentive to those wishing 

to downsize.  That is something I will probably need to give some more thought to. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  The answer to your question, Assembly Member Gavron, is that we are in very early 

days with a lot of councils on this, but it is worth thinking about.  The idea that people might move from 

owner-occupied into even affordable rent does not sound quite right, either, does it?  Presumably when you 

put together the plans for the private sales homes, you are doing that according to a market study with the 

Page 84



 

 

objective of making the most money rather than solving other problems within the borough, I would have 

thought. 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  That is right.  Those homes are 

built so that we can generate the subsidy required to fund the construction of the social homes.  That is their 

purpose.  That is the purpose for delivering them.  Whether or not there is a blend as part of that approach 

that could also tackle that particular issue, again, is something that is probably worth giving some more 

thought to. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We might need to get Savills in to talk to us about this.  Assembly Member Boff, do 

you have a final question? 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I do.  It is on downsizing.  I first became a local councillor in 1982.  We 

had an incentive scheme then and we used to give people a couple of grand to downsize.  It kind of worked 

occasionally with some people, but it never had the impact.  If we came up with a scheme for everybody who 

was under-occupying to go to a more appropriate-sized property, would we solve overcrowding in London or 

in your borough, even? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  No. 

 

Amanda Amafor (Senior Environmental Health Officer, London Borough of Newham):  It is based on 

individual circumstances, I believe. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Are the numbers there?  Are the numbers who are under-occupying 

greater than the numbers of people who are overcrowded? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  There are two parts to 

explaining why I do not know.  One is that I just do not have that analysis in front of me in terms of the 

available data.  However, more importantly, the very first thing that we discussed is that, even if we could sit 

here with a spreadsheet and run the numbers, we probably do not have all of the information we need to give 

a confident answer. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  It is fair to say, is it not, that just relying on downsizing is not an overall 

solution to overcrowding in London? 

 

John Lumley (Director of Regeneration, London Borough of Hackney):  No.  I believe that the focus 

should be on a combination of addressing that issue and increasing supply. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you so much.  That is very useful. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  Thank you.  There are numbers hidden away in the SHMA towards the end, but we 

will look at them before we decide what to do. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Looking at the SHMAs in the appendix, for each borough represented here, the biggest 

demand in terms of social rent is for three-beds in each case.  Of course, I am not entirely certain when all of 

these were carried out.  They might have been carried out at different times, but still. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Chair):  We will need to finish there, I am afraid, but thank you very much to our guests. 

 

Page 85



 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, really interesting. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, a really very good session. 

 

Page 86



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 5 June 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out actions arising from a previous meeting of the Housing Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the outstanding actions arising from a previous meeting. 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 27 February 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5.  Strategic Issues for Social Housing in London: 

a) How resident involvement sits in your governance 

arrangements; 

b) Whether the level and type of resident involvement 

changed over time and why; 

c) Examples of how residents have influenced change 

in your organisation; 

d) Whether Lambeth Council feels it is a good idea to 

require resident ballots to decide on regeneration 

schemes and what are the potential risks; 

e) What the value of appointing a Social Housing 

Commissioner to be the voice of social housing 

residents;  

f) What should be included in the Government social 

housing green paper; and  

g) How resident engagement works when there is a 

mainly Council-managed estate with a block within 

that is instead managed by a separate company. 
 
That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 
with party Group Lead Members, to agree any output 
from the discussion. 

Ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

Strategic Director, 

Neighbourhoods and 

Growth, London 

Borough of Lambeth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



        

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 15 March 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Overcrowding in London Homes 

During the course of the discussion the Committee 

requested the following information: 

 Clarification on how babies are taken account of 

when using the bedroom standard to look at 

overcrowding;  

 Clarification how overcrowding is measured and 

presented in Newham’s housing stock; and 

 The outcomes from the appeals going through 

the Residential Property Tribunal. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members, to agree any output 

from the discussion.  

Ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing. 

 

 

 

The Senior Policy 

Officer, GLA, 

 

 

The Senior 

Environmental 

Health Officer, 

London Borough of 

Newham 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 23 January 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Draft London Plan 

During the course of the discussion the Committee 

requested the following information: 

 A written explanation on how planning 

permissions are monitored in terms of funding in 

relation to the London Plan; and 

 Further information on the basis for deciding 

what was included in planning policy and what 

was in the supportive text. 

Ongoing.   

 

 

Deputy Mayor for 

Housing and 

Residential 

Development 

 

Senior Manager – 

Housing Strategy 

 

 

 

3.  Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 Page 88



        

 
List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

None. 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 89

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Housing Delivery on the Queen 
Elizabeth Olympic Park 
Report to: Housing Committee 
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 5 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out the background information for a discussion with invited guests on housing 

delivery on the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to the invited 

guests on housing delivery on the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) was created in 2012 and is responsible for 

looking after the development of buildings and outdoor spaces in and around Queen Elizabeth 

Olympic Park.  One of the most important Olympic legacy promises was about the physical legacy of 

the Games – the long-term planning, development, management and maintenance of the Park and 

its impact on the surrounding area after the London 2012 Games. 
 
 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 
4.1 LLDC’s current five-year plan running to 2020 says that by 2031, 6,800 new homes will be delivered 

in five new neighbourhoods within and around Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park.  Within the whole 

Legacy Corporation area, 24,000 homes should have been built by 2031. 

 

4.2 The previous London Plan set an annual delivery target of 1,471 homes across the Corporation area.  

The current LLDC Local Plan says that a minimum 35% of these homes should be affordable, 

excluding non-self-contained accommodation. This would amount to 455 homes per annum. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



        

4.3 Only around half the annual number of homes targeted (753) were completed during 2017 and only 

16% of the affordable homes targeted have been built. 

 

4.4 The Mayor’s new draft London Plan further increases the LLDC annual target for homes by almost 

50%, from 1,471 to 2,161.  In addition, the Mayor wants half of all homes built on public land to be 

affordable. 

 
4.5 The Committee may therefore wish to consider: 

 How well LLDC is progressing towards its housebuilding targets, especially for affordable 

homes; 

 Why LLDC is currently failing to meet its targets; and 

 What LLDC needs to do to make up for lost ground and to meet the Mayor’s new overall and 

affordable targets for housebuilding on the Park. 
 

4.6 The following guests have been invited to attend the meeting and participate in the discussion: 

 Rosanna Lawson, Executive Director, Development, London Legacy Development Company; 

and 

 Paul Brickell, Executive Director, Regeneration and Community Partnerships, London Legacy 

Development Company. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None. 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4394 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 92

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Housing Committee Work Programme 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 5 June 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out the work programme for the Housing Committee for the beginning of the 

2018/19 Assembly year. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agree the work programme, as set out in the report. 

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The Assembly agreed meeting slots for the Housing Committee for the 2018/19 Assembly year, 

which the Committee may choose to use for formal meetings, site visits, informal meetings or other 

engagement activities.  Assembly Members (AMs) receive a report at each committee meeting on 

the progress of the projects agreed as the basis for the work programme.  Additional projects will be 

included in the work programme from time to time reflecting the need for the Committee to respond 

to tasks such as consultations or other events as necessary. 

 

Criteria for topic selection 

3.2 The criteria for selecting topics are some, or all, of the following:  

(a) Addresses a strategic challenge relating to housing in London, with a particular emphasis on:  

 Developing and maintaining sustainable communities; and 

 Reducing inequalities and offering opportunities to all Londoners; 

(b) Relates to the responsibilities and priorities of the Mayor and Greater London  

Authority (GLA) Group; 

(c) Provides an opportunity for the Committee to influence policy; and 

(d) Provides an opportunity for the Committee to add value by bringing significant new evidence  

or new perspectives to the debate. 

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

 Provisional work programme for 2018/19 

4.1 The table in paragraph 4.5 below sets out the allocated dates for the Housing Committee in 

2018/19.  The table notes suggested business for the meetings up to September 2018. 

 

4.2 The work programme is subject to change in future as the Committee develops proposals for its 

work.  Dates may be used for formal committee meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other 

activities for the Committee.  The work programme also provides for the Committee to respond to 

any matters that arise during the year. 

 

 Social housing governance 

4.3 To conclude the Committee’s work on social housing governance, begun in February 2018, it is 

proposed that the July meeting be used to put questions to housing providers and the Mayor on 

resident involvement in decision-making. 

 

 Council housing development and delivery models 

4.4  A wide range of housing development and delivery models are now used by boroughs and GLA 

family organisations across London.  Many boroughs are developing local housing companies, 

forming joint ventures and special vehicles, offering varying degrees of control and differing goals.  

It is proposed that the Committee use its September 2018 meeting to consider the opportunities and 

risks associated with forming and operating such companies and joint ventures, and the contribution 

they will make to meeting London’s housing needs. 

  

4.5 

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

5 June 2018 Housing on the QE Olympic Park 

3 July 2018 Social Housing Governance 

4 September 2018 Council Housing Development and Delivery Models 

4 October 2018 To be confirmed 

28 November 2018 To be confirmed 

4 December 2018 To be confirmed 

22 January 2019 To be confirmed 

26 February 2019 To be confirmed 

2 April 2019 To be confirmed 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



        

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

  

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 4394 

E-mail:  scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 95

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	GLA - Housing Committee 27-02-18
	Housing mins - Chairs Clearance
	Appendix 1 - Transcript of Housing Committee 15-03-18 v2

	7 Summary List of Actions
	8 Housing Delivery on the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park
	9 Housing Committee Work Programme

